
AGENDA - REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 
Monday, June 24, 2024 @ 2:00 PM 

In the City Hall Council Chambers & Via Video-Conference 
4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 

     
The following pages list all agenda items received by the deadline [12:00 noon on the Wednesday before the 
scheduled meeting].  A sample resolution is provided for most items in italics for the consideration of Council. For 
a complete copy of the agenda including all correspondence and reports please refer to the City’s website 
portalberni.ca or contact Corporate Services at 250.723.2146 or by email corp_serv@portalberni.ca   

Watch the meeting live at www.portalberni.ca 
Register to participate via webinar at: https://portalberni.ca/council-agendas-minutes 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
A. CALL TO ORDER & APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

1. Council would like to acknowledge and recognize that we work, live and play in the City of
Port Alberni which is situated on the unceded territories of the Tseshaht [ci̓šaaʔatḥ] and
Hupačasath First Nations.

2. Late items identified by Councillors.
3. Late items identified by the Corporate Officer.
4. Notice of Video Recording (live-streaming and recorded/broadcast on YouTube).
That the agenda be approved as circulated.

B. ADOPTION OF MINUTES - Page 7
1. Minutes of the Regular Council meeting held at 2:00 pm and Special meeting held at

4:00 pm and on June 10, 2024, and minutes of the Special meeting held at 4:00 pm on
June 17, 2024 be adopted, as presented.

C. DELEGATIONS

D. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
Includes items carried forward from previous Council meetings.

1. 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] – Revised Remedial Action Order - Page 14
Report dated June 4, 2024 from the Director of Corporate Services requesting Council
pass a resolution for a remedial action requirement.
 

THAT Council pass a resolution for a remedial action requirement in the following
terms:
WHEREAS Division 12 of Part 3 of the Community Charter authorizes Council to impose
a remedial action requirement on the owner of a building or structure which is in a
hazardous condition, including a requirement to demolish or remove the building or
structure or to otherwise deal with it in accordance with the directions of Council or a
person authorized by Council;
AND WHEREAS Division 12 of Part 3 of the Community Charter authorizes Council to
declare a building or other structure to be a nuisance and so dilapidated or unclean as
to be offensive to the community, and to impose a remedial action requirement on the
owner of such a building or structure, including a requirement to demolish or remove

http://www.portalberni.ca/
mailto:corp_serv@portalberni.ca
http://www.portalberni.ca/
https://portalberni.ca/council-agendas-minutes
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the building or structure or to otherwise deal with it in accordance with the directions 
of Council or a person authorized by Council; 
AND WHEREAS 1052162 BC Ltd. is the registered owner (the “Owner”) of the property 
at 5170 Argyle St and having a legal description of: LT 24 BLK 86 DL 1 ALD PL VIP197 & 
LT 23 BLK 86 DL1 ALD PL VIP197 (the “Property”); 
AND WHEREAS section 17 of the Community Charter provides that the authority of 
Council to require that something be done includes the authority to direct that, if a 
person subject to the requirement fails to take the required action, the Municipality 
may fulfill the requirement at the expense of the person; 
AND WHEREAS Council passed a previous resolution for a remedial action requirement 
on the Property on January 22, 2024 [the “January Remedial Action Requirement”], 
which has not been carried out by the Owner within 30 days of receiving notice, or at 
all;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the City of Port Alberni, in open meeting assembled, 
resolves as follows: 
1. THAT Council hereby considers that the building located on the Property (the

“Structure”) is unsafe and contravenes the BC Building Code and the Port
Alberni Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975, 2018, and therefore is in a
hazardous condition within the meaning of Section 73 of the Community
Charter;

2. THAT Council hereby considers that the Structure and the discarded materials
and refuse about the Structure on the Property are a nuisance and are so
dilapidated and unclean as to be offensive to the community, within the
meaning of Section 74 of the Community Charter;

3. THAT Council hereby requires, pursuant to its powers under Section 72(2)(b) of
the Community Charter, that the Owner, within 30 days of the date this
Resolution is sent to the Owner, do all things necessary to apply for a demolition
permit for the Structure under the Port Alberni Building Standards Bylaw;

4. THAT the Owner, within 30 days of receiving a demolition permit under Section
3 of this Resolution, must demolish the Structure and remove all resulting
debris, and comply with all requirements of the demolition permit and the
Building Standards Bylaw in relation to the demolition, including but not limited
to requirements for the abatement and handling of hazardous materials;

5. THAT the Owner may request that Council reconsider the terms of this
Resolution by providing the City with written notice within 14 days of the date
on which notice of this Resolution is sent to the Owner under Section 77 of the
Community Charter; and

6. THAT if the Owner has not completed any requirement imposed by this
Resolution within the time limit for so doing, City staff and contractors are
authorized to enter on to the Property for the purpose of and to fulfil the
applicable requirement(s) without further notice to and at the expense of the
Owner, and may recover the cost of so doing from the Owner, together with
costs and interest, as a debt and in the same manner as municipal taxes in
accordance with sections 17, 258 and 259 of the Community Charter.
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E. STAFF REPORTS
Members of the public may be recognized by Council to speak to a report if the report is a response to
their correspondence or an application.

1. Accounts
THAT the certification of the Director of Finance dated June 24, 2024, be received and
the cheques numbered _____ to _____ inclusive, in payment of accounts totalling
$_____, be approved.

F. BYLAWS
Bylaws are required for the adoption of regulations, financial plans, changes to land use policy and to
approve borrowing.  A bylaw requires four separate resolutions to be adopted and must be considered
over a minimum of two [2] Council meetings. Each reading enables Council to reflect on the bylaw
before proceeding further.

G. CORRESPONDENCE FOR ACTION
Correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Council where there is a specific request may be included
on an agenda. Correspondence regarding personnel matters, legal action and/or items of a confidential
nature will not be included. Correspondence addressed to Council that is administrative or operational
in nature will be circulated to Council weekly and referred to the appropriate department for review
and follow-up where necessary.
1. Uptown Merchants’ Association | Grassroots Uptown Market - Page 175

Letter dated June 14, 2024 from the Uptown Merchants’ Association requesting use of
City streets for the Grassroots Uptown Market.

THAT Council authorize the Uptown Merchants’ Association access to City streets on 3rd

Avenue between Argyle Street and Angus Avenue on July 17, 2024 and August 21, 2024
from 4:00 to 9:00 p.m. for the purpose of the Grassroots Uptown Market subject to:

• the notification of emergency services and BC Transit;
• consultation with all affected businesses/residents;
• implementation of a Traffic Safety Plan to be approved by the City of Port

Alberni, including qualified Traffic Control Personnel as required;
• provision of standard liability insurance in the amount of $5M [minimum].

2. Western Vancouver Island Industrial Heritage Society (WVIIHS) | Annual Antique
Truck & Machinery Show - Page 176
Letter dated June 13, 2024 requesting Council authorization for the Antique Truck &
Machinery Show.

THAT Council authorize WVIIHS access to City streets from 5:00 p.m. on Friday, August
30, 2024 to 5:00 p.m. on Sunday, September 1, 2024 on Dunbar Street, from the corner
of 7th Avenue to 9th Avenue for the purpose of an antique trucks and machinery show
subject to:

• the notification of emergency services and BC Transit;
• consultation with all affected businesses/residents;
• implementation of a Traffic Safety Plan to be approved by the City of Port

Alberni, including qualified Traffic Control Personnel as required;
• provision of standard liability insurance in the amount of $5M [minimum].
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3. Spirit Square Farmer’s Market | Equinox Garlic Festival - Page 178
Email dated June 19, 2024 from the Spirit Square Farmer’s Market regarding the
Equinox Garlic Festival.

THAT Council authorize the Harbour Quay Spirit Square Farmer’s Market to utilize
additional space as outlined in the attached map and to extend their use of Spirit
Square to 3:00 pm on Saturday, September 21, 2024 for the Equinox Garlic Festival.

H. PROCLAMATIONS

I. CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION
Correspondence found here provides information to Council. Correspondence regarding personnel
matters, legal action and/or items of a confidential nature will not be included. Correspondence
addressed to Council that is administrative or operational in nature will be circulated to Council weekly
and referred to the appropriate department for review and follow-up where necessary.

1. Correspondence Summary - Page 182
a. City of Kamloops | Support for Downloading Costs on Municipalities
b. Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District | News Release - West Coast Multi-Use Path
c. Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District | Keeping you Connected May 2024
d. Ministry of Housing | Zoning Bylaw Compliance Deadline
e. Ministry of Municipal Affairs |BC PNP Entrepreneur Immigration Regional Pilot
f. Alberni Valley Museum and Heritage Commission Minutes | May 1, 2024

J. REPORT FROM IN-CAMERA
1. Council releases for public consumption appointment of Dr. A. Elias to serve as the City

municipal representative to the Port Alberni Port Authority Board of Directors for a term
of three years effective July 1, 2024.

2. Council releases for public consumption authorization for the Mayor and Corporate
Officer to execute a renewal agreement between the City and the Alberni Valley
Bulldogs and the Port Alberni Bombers for a 10-year term (August 1, 2024 – July 31,
2034),  subject to the advertised Notice of Intent to lease receiving no objections.

3. Council releases for public consumption approval the draft 2023 Annual Municipal
Report as presented including proceeding with the public inspection period as per
legislative requirements.

K. COUNCIL REPORTS
1. Council and Regional District Reports - Page 221

THAT the Council reports outlining recent meetings and events related to the City’s
business, be received.
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L. NEW BUSINESS
New items of business requiring Council direction as well as an opportunity for Council to raise issues as
a result of the business of the meeting or to identify new items for subsequent meetings by way of a
‘Notice of Motion’.

1. City of Port Alberni Accessibility Plan | Recommendation from the June 17th

Committee of the Whole
THAT Council approve the City of Port Alberni Accessibility Plan dated June 2024.

June 17, 2024 Staff Report Pg. 28

2. Leasing Policy for City-Owned Properties | Recommendations from the June 17th

Committee of the Whole
a. THAT Council for the City of Port Alberni approve a comprehensive leasing Policy for

City-Owned Properties.

b. THAT Council for the City of Port Alberni issue a Request for Proposal for a third-
party to manage the lease agreements at Harbour Quay with costs to come out of
Harbour Quay lease revenue.

June 17, 2024 Staff Report Pg. 80 

3. Options for Façade Improvement Project Allocation | Recommendation from the
June 17th Committee of the Whole
THAT Council for the City of Port Alberni direct that the $50,000 funding allocation for
the Façade Improvement Program be invested in a placemaking initiative.

June 17, 2024 Staff Report Pg. 98

4. Director of Corporate Services – Presentation of the Annual Report - Page 223
The 2023 Annual Report is available to the public on the City’s website at
https://www.portalberni.ca/annual-reports or via City Hall in hardcopy.

1) Questions and Comments from the Council

THAT Council for the City of Port Alberni endorse the Annual Report for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, as presented. 

5. Statement of Financial Information - Page 225
Report dated June 14, 2024 from the Director of Finance requesting Council approval
of the Statement of Financial Information for 2023.

THAT Council approve the statements and schedules included in the Statement of
Financial Information for 2023, prepared to comply with the Financial Information Act,
as outlined in the report from the Director of Finance dated June 14, 2024.

6. 2023 Development Cost Charges - Page 269
Report dated May 27, 2024 from the Deputy Director of Finance providing for Councils
information the 2023 Development Cost Charges.

THAT Council receive the report dated May 27, 2024 and titled “2023 Development Cost
Charges”.

https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_06_17_OPT_COW_Agenda.pdf
https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_06_17_OPT_COW_Agenda.pdf
https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_06_17_OPT_COW_Agenda.pdf
https://www.portalberni.ca/annual-reports
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M. QUESTION PERIOD
An opportunity for the public to ask questions of Council on decisions or recommendations made during
the course of the meeting. A maximum of three [3] questions will be permitted per speaker. For those
participating electronically, please use the ‘Raise your Hand’ feature.

N. ADJOURNMENT
That the meeting adjourn at       PM. 
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of June 24, 2024 

Date: June 4, 2024 
File No: 4020-30-NR-5170 Argyle Street 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] – Revised Remedial Action Order

Prepared by: 

D. LEUREBOURG 

DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE
SERVICES 
 

Supervisor: 

M. FOX 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE
OFFICER 

CAO Concurrence: 

 

M. Fox, CAO

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council pass a resolution for a remedial action requirement in the following terms: 

WHEREAS Division 12 of Part 3 of the Community Charter authorizes Council to impose a remedial action 
requirement on the owner of a building or structure which is in a hazardous condition, including a requirement 
to demolish or remove the building or structure or to otherwise deal with it in accordance with the directions of 
Council or a person authorized by Council; 

AND WHEREAS Division 12 of Part 3 of the Community Charter authorizes Council to declare a building or other 
structure to be a nuisance and so dilapidated or unclean as to be offensive to the community, and to impose a 
remedial action requirement on the owner of such a building or structure, including a requirement to demolish 
or remove the building or structure or to otherwise deal with it in accordance with the directions of Council or a 
person authorized by Council; 

AND WHEREAS 1052162 BC Ltd. is the registered owner (the “Owner”) of the property at 5170 Argyle St and 
having a legal description of: LT 24 BLK 86 DL 1 ALD PL VIP197 & LT 23 BLK 86 DL1 ALD PL VIP197 (the 
“Property”); 

AND WHEREAS section 17 of the Community Charter provides that the authority of Council to require that 
something be done includes the authority to direct that, if a person subject to the requirement fails to take the 
required action, the Municipality may fulfill the requirement at the expense of the person; 

AND WHEREAS Council passed a previous resolution for a remedial action requirement on the Property on 
January 22, 2024 [the “January Remedial Action Requirement”], which has not been carried out by the Owner 
within 30 days of receiving notice, or at all;  

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the City of Port Alberni, in open meeting assembled, resolves as follows: 
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1. THAT Council hereby considers that the building located on the Property (the “Structure”) is unsafe and
contravenes the BC Building Code and the Port Alberni Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975, 2018, and
therefore is in a hazardous condition within the meaning of Section 73 of the Community Charter;

2. THAT Council hereby considers that the Structure and the discarded materials and refuse about the
Structure on the Property are a nuisance and are so dilapidated and unclean as to be offensive to the
community, within the meaning of Section 74 of the Community Charter;

3. THAT Council hereby requires, pursuant to its powers under Section 72(2)(b) of the Community Charter,
that the Owner, within 30 days of the date this Resolution is sent to the Owner, do all things necessary
to apply for a demolition permit for the Structure under the Port Alberni Building Standards Bylaw;

4. THAT the Owner, within 30 days of receiving a demolition permit under Section 3 of this Resolution,
must demolish the Structure and remove all resulting debris, and comply with all requirements of the
demolition permit and the Building Standards Bylaw in relation to the demolition, including but not
limited to requirements for the abatement and handling of hazardous materials;

5. THAT the Owner may request that Council reconsider the terms of this Resolution by providing the City
with written notice within 14 days of the date on which notice of this Resolution is sent to the Owner
under Section 77 of the Community Charter; and

6. THAT if the Owner has not completed any requirement imposed by this Resolution within the time limit
for so doing, City staff and contractors are authorized to enter on to the Property for the purpose of and
to fulfil the applicable requirement(s) without further notice to and at the expense of the Owner, and
may recover the cost of so doing from the Owner, together with costs and interest, as a debt and in the
same manner as municipal taxes in accordance with sections 17, 258 and 259 of the Community
Charter.

PURPOSE 
This report provides Council with information pertaining to the compliance and nuisance issues related to the 
Property at 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, and recommends that Council impose remedial action 
requirements on the Property to compel the Owner to bring the Property into compliance with City bylaws, 
provincial building legislation, and to remedy its status as a nuisance, in addition to obtaining Council direction 
to proceed with direct action on the Property if compliance is not achieved within the required time limit set by 
Council. 

BACKGROUND 
On January 22, 2024, Council passed a resolution to impose a remedial action requirement on the Owner to 
remedy a number of hazardous and nuisance conditions on the Property, including by repairing elements of 
the structure, taking steps to ensure fire safety, and clean up significant accumulations of refuse and filth both 
inside and outside the primary structure. Detailed background on the process and powers for Remedial Action 
Requirements under the Community Charter, applicable provisions of the City’s Bylaw and the Building Code, 
and the lengthy and significant history of problems at the Property can be found in the January 12, 2024 Staff 
Report attached as Appendix A to this report. An update regarding the lack of progress in implementing the 
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January Remedial Action Requirement, continued problems at the Property, and escalating fire hazards can be 
found in the March 4, 2024 Staff report attached as Appendix B to this Report.  

On May 2, 2024, the City received a Condition Assessment of the Property from McGill and Associates 
Engineering Ltd., a firm engaged by the City to assess the structural, building envelope, and life-safety 
architectural elements of the building in question. This Condition Assessment is attached as Appendix C to this 
Report. In summary, the work required to bring the building on the Property up to an acceptable standard 
would be significant and is expected to cost close to $1 million, not including hazardous materials abatement.  
On May 22, 2024, a follow-up fire inspection was completed, which revealed no progress on addressing the fire 
hazards and deficiencies on the Property. An inspection report is attached as Appendix D.  

On May 27, 2024, the City received a laboratory report confirming the presence of asbestos on the Property, 
which is attached as Appendix E to this Report. The City issued a Notice of Hazardous Materials to the Owner 
and the tenants of the Property – attached as Appendix F – and discontinued the Fire Watch put in place by the 
City due to the inoperable fire alarm and sprinkler systems. The removal of the Fire Watch necessitated the 
issuance of a Fire Order requiring the building to be vacated and secured. This Fire Order is attached as 
Appendix G to this Report. 

On June 10, 2024 at its Regular meeting, Council received this same report requesting a resolution for a revised 
remedial action requirement and resolved as follows: 

THAT Council postpone the resolution for a revised remedial action requirement at 5170 Argyle 
Street to the June 24th Regular meeting permitting time to engage with BC Housing to request 
that they purchase, remediate and rent the building in question.  Res. No. 24-233 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
1. That Council declare the Property to be in a hazardous condition by virtue of its breaches of

the Building Bylaw, Building Standards Bylaw and the Fire Bylaw, as well as being a nuisance
and so dilapidated and unclean to be offensive to the community, and impose remedial action
requirements as identified in the recommendations of this report

2. That Council direct staff to prepare an alternative form of resolution to impose a remedial
action requirement that provides the option to either remediate or demolish the Structure,
and to bring this matter back before Council at its June 24th Regular meeting.

3. That Council take no action at this time.

ANALYSIS 
Given the Owner’s failure to carry out the January Remedial Action Requirement, the continued deterioration 
of safety and sanitation on the Property, the escalating fire hazards, and the discovery of hazardous materials 
that must be safely abated by licenced professionals, and the high cost of remediating the building, it is no 
longer practical or cost-effective for the measures specified in the January Remedial Action Requirement to be 
carried out. The state of the hazard and nuisance now posed by the condition of the Property justifies the 
demolition and removal of the building, along with a full cleanup of all demolition debris along with the refuse 
and discarded materials.  
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Should Council wish to exercise Option 2, staff would draft an alternative form of resolution for the Remedial 
Action Requirement to include the option to bring the property into compliance, as set out in the January 
Remedial Action Requirement and amended to include additional terms based on the recent inspections and 
cost assessments.  

IMPLICATIONS 
The Property is in violation of many City bylaws, and has numerous outstanding violation tickets. Voluntary 
compliance, letters, orders, tickets, site inspections, and the January Remedial Action Requirement have not 
resulted in compliance.  

The continuing and sustained pattern of nuisance activity inside the Structure and on the Property is negatively 
impacting the community, and the building deficiencies, fire safety risks and presence of hazardous materials 
are creating immense concern for safety. The safety of the residents, visitors, workers, City Staff and first 
responders are all jeopardized by these ongoing infractions. This is not in line with the Council’s Strategic Plan 
and the principal ‘Fostering a complete community (safe, healthy and inclusive)’. 

The current 2024 land & improvements assessed value of the property [Class 6 – Commercial]. is $1,016,500. 
Land only assessed value is $200,803. 

Cost implications associated with demolition of the Structure and clearing of the site are approximately 
$187,000 plus 15 percent contingency, totalling $215,050.  

The Condition Assessment received from McGill and Associates Engineering Ltd. dated May 2nd was based on 
an assessment of the structural, building envelope, and life-safety architectural elements of the building in 
question. The assessment was based primarily on a visual review of the building. No removal of finishes was 
performed and access to some residential suites upstairs was not possible. The opinion of probable cost 
provided for the recommended work is $937,950. This does not include items outside of the firm’s scope (eg. 
electrical, plumbing, hazardous materials). 

It is for these reasons that staff are not recommending Option 2 to include the option of bringing the property 
into compliance.  

COMMUNICATIONS 
The Community Charter requires formal notification be given to the Property’s registered owner and to the 
holders of any charges listed on the Property’s assessment roll should Council pass a remedial action 
requirement as outlined in this report, and requires providing for an opportunity for the owner to request 
Council’s reconsideration of the matter. Specifically, a notice of the resolution imposing the remedial action 
requirement will be provided in accordance with sections 77(1) and (2) of the Community Charter, with section 
77(3) setting out specific content that must also be included, to the Property owner and registered share 
holders. 
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BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
Anti-litter Bylaw No. 4874 
Building Bylaw No. 5077 
Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975 
Fire Control Bylaw No. 4876 
Noise Control Bylaw No. 4718 
Property Maintenance Bylaw No. 4712 
Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Bylaw No. 5030 
Zoning Bylaw No. 5074 
SUMMARY 
This report provides Council with information pertaining to the compliance and nuisance issues related to the 
Property at 5170 Argyle Street. The recommendations in this report to issue a Remedial Action Order meet the 
Community Charter requirements and outline the process by which the issues on this Property may be 
resolved. 

ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 
• Appendix A: Staff Report, January 12, 2024: 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] – Remedial Action Order
• Appendix B: Staff Report, March 4, 2024: 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] Remedial Action Order Update
• Appendix C: McGill and Associates Engineering Ltd. 5170 Argyle Street Condition Assessment
• Appendix D: May 22, 2024 Fire Inspection Report
• Appendix E: Lewkowich Engineering Associates Ltd. 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC – Bulk Asbestos

Sample Report
• Appendix F: Notice of Hazardous Materials – Notice to Residents and Other Affected Persons and Notice

to Owners
• Appendix G: May 29, 2024 Fire Order

c: M. Fox, CAO 
M. Owens, Fire Chief
M. Thompson, Acting OIC, RCMP
S. Smith, Director of Development Services/Deputy CAO
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of January 22, 2024 

Date: January 12, 2024 
File No:  4020-30 NR 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] – Remedial Action Order

Prepared by: 

MC. MASSICOTTE 

MANAGER OF COMMUNITY SAFETY 
AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Supervisor: 

D. MONTEITH 

DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE
SERVICES 

CAO Concurrence: 

 

M. FOX, CAO

RECOMMENDATION 
WHEREAS  
Remedial Action: 

1. THAT Council, pursuant Sections 72 and 73 of the Community Charter, considers that the property at
5170 Argyle St and having a legal description of: LT 24 BLK 86 DL 1 ALD PL VIP197 & LT 23 BLK 86 DL1
ALD PL VIP197 (the “Property”) is in an unsafe condition and that the structure on the Property (the
“Structure”) contravenes the BC Building Code and the Port Alberni Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975,
2018;

2. THAT Council, pursuant to Sections 72 and 74 of the Community Charter, declares that the Structure
and the discarded materials and refuse about the Structure on the Property are a nuisance and are so
dilapidated and unclean as to be offensive to the community;

3. AND FURTHER THAT Council, pursuant to Section 72, 73 and 74 of the Community Charter, resolves
that:

a. 1052162 BC Ltd., being the registered owner of the Property (the “Owner”), is hereby required
to:

i. carry out the following work within 30 days of the date that notice of this Resolution is
sent to the Owner:

1. Repair the exterior walls of the Structure, including coping and flashing, to
restore the integrity of the building envelope to a condition sufficient to protect
the Structure from the weather and from infestations of insects, rodents and
other pests, including without limitation by:

a. remediating any holes, breaks, loose or rotting boards or timbers and
any other condition which might permit the entry of insects, rodents or
other pests to the interior of the walls or the interior of the Structure;

b. Applying paint, stain or other protective coating to the exterior walls so
as to adequately protect them against deterioration;

APPENDIX A
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2. Remove or permanently cover all graffiti from the exterior of the Structure; 

3. Replace/repair all broken or missing handrailing on staircases; 

4. Replace all broken, cracked or otherwise compromised exterior windows to a 
weathertight condition which operates to provide light and ventilation; 

5. Replace or repair all damaged, decayed or deteriorated window sashes, 
window frames and casings; 

6. Replace or repair all exterior doors of the Structure so that they are 
weathertight, operational, fit tightly within their frames when closed and self 
closers are operational with no binding, and locked so as to prevent entry, with 
at least one entrance door capable of being locked from both inside and 
outside; 

7. Replace or repair all interior entrance doors and door frames for each unit to 
be fitted with proper fitting door in good operating condition and provide 
locking door knobs; 

8. Replace or repair the roof of the Structure to a watertight condition with no 
leaks; 

9. All drywall repairs to be completed for fire separation and integrity of building; 

10. An engineer and/or architect must attend, inspect and sign off on the 
replacement and repair of the fire safety and exit issues; 

11. Replace or repair all fire escapes and devises for safe exiting, stairs to a safe 
and clean condition free from rot, holes, cracks, excessive wear and warping, 
or hazardous obstructions;  

12. Have licensed electrician inspect and repair all electrical to ensure all lighting, 
cover plates and smoke and co2 detectors to be in working operation; 

13. Have a licensed plumber evaluate and make repairs to all communal 
washrooms, as required inclusive of showers, toilets and hot water tanks; 
 

14. Replace or repair all fire protections systems, heat detections, smoke 
detections, fire alarms, fire extinguishers, sprinkler systems, exit signs, 
emergency lighting, annunciator panel, fire separations and means of egress 
required by the BC Building Code and BC Fire Code to a functional and 
unobstructed condition; 

 
15. Remove and properly dispose of all refuse from the interior and exterior 

common spaces of the Property, including food waste, combustibles, non-
combustibles, furniture, appliances, tires, construction waste, stripped or 
wrecked automobiles, trucks, trailers, boats, vessels or machinery; parts or 
components of any of the aforementioned, to an appropriate disposal site; 
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16. Designate a space or area for daily refuse on premises and not in emergency 
egress areas; 

17. Eliminate all rodents, vermin and insects and soiling’s from the Structure; 

18. Permanently remove all objects placed, stored, or maintained upon any 
hallways, or entrance way which may interfere with access or egress to or from 
the Building in case of fire or other emergency, including all access areas on the 
Property; and 

19. Prepare a Fire Safety Plan in cooperation with Port Alberni Fire Department 
and Approved from Fire Prevention Officer. 

 
Compliance & Reconsideration Notice Time Limit Recommendations: 

 
4. AND FURTHER THAT Council, pursuant to Section 78 of the Community Charter, direct staff to advise the 

Owner that the Owner may request that Council reconsider this Resolution by providing written notice 
within 14 days of the date on which notice of the Remedial Action Requirement was sent to the Owner. 

 
Municipal Action at Defaulter’s Expense: 

5. AND FURTHER THAT Council, pursuant to Section 17 of the Community Charter, authorizes City staff to 
carry out any requirement set out in Paragraph 3 of this Resolution which the Owner fails to complete 
within the time permitted by this Resolution, and to recover the cost of carrying out such requirement 
from the Owner as a debt. 

 
PURPOSE 
This report provides Council with information pertaining to the compliance and nuisance issues related to the 
Property at 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, and recommends that Council impose remedial action 
requirements on the Property to compel the Owner to bring the Property into compliance with City bylaws, 
provincial building legislation, and to remedy its status as a nuisance, in addition to obtaining Council direction 
to proceed with direct action on the Property if compliance is not achieved within the required time limit set by 
Council.   
 
BACKGROUND 
Community Charter Remedial Action Authority and Process 
 
Sections 72 through 80 of the Community Charter outline the process for remedial action requirements. 
Remedial action requirements are imposed by Council resolution and do not require enacting a bylaw. 

Section 72 of the Community Charter provides the authority for Council to impose remedial action 
requirements on property owners, lessees or occupiers of land in relation to hazardous conditions or declared 
nuisances. Section 2(b)(i-iv) also stipulates the actions that Council may require the person to: 

i. Remove or demolish the matter or thing; 
ii. Fill it in, cover it over or alter it;  

iii. Bring it up to standard specified by bylaw; or 

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 21

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/03026_03


Regular Meeting of Council 
  Staff Report – 5170 Argyle St [Port Pub] Nuisance/Remedial Considerations 

January 22, 2024 

P a g e  4 | 15 

iv. Otherwise deal with it in accordance with the directions of Council or a person authorized by Council.

Section 73 details Council’s authority to impose a “hazardous condition” remedial action requirement on a 
property. Council may only impose a remedial action requirement in relation to a hazardous condition if: 

a) Council considers that the matter or thing is in or creates an unsafe condition; or
b) The matter or thing contravenes the Provincial building regulations.

Section 74 details Council’s authority to impose a “declared nuisance” remedial action requirement on a 
property. This section affords Council significant latitude with regards to determining what “matters or things” 
in relation to a property can be declared a nuisance. This includes the ability for Council to make directions in 
relation to a thing that is so dilapidated or unclean as to be offensive to the community. 

Section 76 stipulates the minimum time period that Council can set for compliance, which is at least 30 days 
after notice is sent to the person subject to the remedial action requirement.  

Section 77 outlines the process the City must follow to notify the property owner or their representatives of 
Council’s decision to impose a remedial action requirement on the property. It also references the ability for 
the City to exercise its authority under Section 17 of the Community Charter [municipal action at defaulter’s 
expense] if the remedial action requirement is not completed by the compliance date. Furthermore, Section 17 
authorizes the City to collect all related costs as a debt owed to the City which, if unpaid, can be transferred to 
the property’s taxes as arrears at the end of the year, in accordance with Division 14 [Recovery of Special Fees] 
of Part 7 [Municipal Revenue] of the Community Charter. 

Section 78 allows a person affected by the remedial action requirement to request Council reconsider their 
decision and an opportunity to make a representation directly to Council. This section states the default time 
period for an affected person to request reconsideration 14 days from the date the notice was sent to the 
affected persons; Council may extend this time period by resolution, but may only shorted it in cases of 
emergency. 

The Property and the Structure are currently in contravention of the below listed provisions of the following 
City of Port Alberni Bylaws.  

City of Port Alberni Property Maintenance Bylaw No. 4712 

Relevant Provisions: 
The definition of “unsightly” means an untidy or otherwise non-aesthetic accumulation of filth, discarded 
materials or refuse on any real property, and includes graffiti. 

Section 4(a) requires all real property to be maintained by the property owner or their designate. 

Section 4(b) no property owner shall cause or permit the accumulation of refuse on his or her property. 

Section 4(k) No property owner shall permit graffiti in a place visible from adjacent public or private property. 
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City of Port Alberni Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975 

Relevant Provisions 
Every owner or occupier of a real property that contains a Building shall maintain the Building in compliance 
with the standards set out forming part of this Bylaw.  

Every owner of a real property that contains a residential, commercial or industrial Building in the City of Port 
Alberni shall maintain the Building in accordance with the requirements of this Bylaw.  

SCHEDULE "A"  
The Owner of a Building or Vacant Building must comply with the following maintenance standards of this 
Schedule.  

PART 1: EXTERIOR WALLS  
1.1 The exterior of every building must be constructed, repaired and maintained in a manner that ensures the 
integrity of the building envelope to protect the building from the weather and from infestations of insects, 
rodents and other pests.  

1.2 Without restricting the general obligation set out in subsection 1.1: 
(a) all exterior surfaces must consist of materials that provide adequate protection from the weather;
(b) all exterior walls and their components, including casing and flashing, must be maintained in good repair;
(c) all exterior walls must be free of holes, breaks, loose or rotting boards or timbers, and any other condition
which might permit the entry of insects, rodents or other pests to the interior of the wall or the interior of the
Building;
(d) exterior wood surfaces must be adequately protected against deterioration by the periodic application of
paint, stain, or other protective coating;
(f) the mortar of any masonry or stone exterior wall may not be loose or dislodged.
(g) the exterior of every building must be free of graffiti;
(h) loose material must be removed from exterior walls, doors, and window openings;
(i) all windows must be in good repair and properly glazed; and
(j) all exterior doors to the Building must be operational, fit tightly within their frames when closed, and are
locked so as to prevent entry.

PART 2: ROOFS  
2.1 Roofs must be constructed and maintained using standard roofing material so as to prevent: 
(a) rainwater or melting snow falling on the roof from entering the Building;
(b) rainwater or melting snow falling on the roof from negatively affecting neighbouring buildings or
properties; and
(c) objects and materials from falling from the roof.

2.2 Without restricting the general obligation set out in subsection 2.1: 
(a) Roofs, including fascia boards, soffits, cornices, flashing, eaves troughs and downspouts must be maintained
in a watertight condition;
(b) Roof drainage must be controlled in order to eliminate or minimize runoff to neighbouring properties that:

(i) accumulates or causes ground erosion;
(ii) causes dampness in the walls, ceilings, or floors of any portion of any neighbouring Building; and
(iii) accumulates on sidewalks or stairs in a manner so as to create a hazardous condition.
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2.3 Loose or unsecured objects and materials, including accumulations of snow or ice or both that are likely to 
fall on passersby or are likely to result in the collapse of the roof, must be removed from the roof of a building 
or an accessory building.  
 
PART 3: FIRE ESCAPES, STAIRS, BALCONIES, AND PORCHES  
3.1 Fire escapes, stairs, balconies, and porches shall be maintained:  
(a) In a safe and clean condition;  
(b) In good repair; and  
(c) Free from holes, cracks, excessive wear and warping, and hazardous obstructions.  
 
PART 4: WINDOWS  
4.1 Existing windows and frames shall be in sound condition, shall be weathertight and shall operate to provide 
light and ventilation.  
 
4.2 Maintenance of window as referred to in subsection 4.1 may include painting, refitting, repairing or 
replacing damaged, decayed, or deteriorated window sashes, window frames, and casings.  
 
PART 5: PEST PREVENTION  
5.1 An owner shall ensure that residential and commercial premises are kept free of rodents, vermin, and 
insects at all times, and appropriate extermination measures shall be taken, as necessary.  
 
PART 6: FLOORS  
6.1 Every floor shall be reasonably level, smooth, and maintained in good condition.  
 
PART 7: DOORS  
7.1 Existing doors and frames shall be maintained in good repair and weather tight.  
 
7.2 At least one entrance door in every Building shall be capable of being locked from both inside and outside.  
 
PART 8: FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS  
8.1 Any fire protection system, including alarm and monitoring systems required by the BC Building Code and 
BC Fire Code, must be maintained in an operational condition.  
 
Section 13 of this bylaw permits City Staff to carry out work required on a property if the owner fails to comply 
with a formal notice/order to remediate. Costs incurred by the City can be recovered through the real property 
tax roll and collected in the same manner as property taxes. 

Section 14 of this bylaw reiterates Council’s authority to impose a remedial action requirement under Division 
12, Part 3 of the Community Charter. Remedial action can include, but is not limited to, requiring a property to 
be fully compliant with City bylaws and regulations within 30 days. 

Section 15, Recovery of City Costs through the Sale of Property. In accordance with Section 80 of the 
Community Charter, if remedial action requirements have not been satisfied by the date specified for 
compliance, the City may sell the matter or thing in relation to which the requirement was imposed or any part 
or material of it.  
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BC Building Code 
 
Relevant Provisions: 
Section 1.1 General 

1.1.1.1. Application of this Code 
1.1.1.2. Application of this Code 

1) This Code applies to any one or more of the following: 
h) the correction of an unsafe condition in or about any building. 
j) the work necessary to ensure safety in parts of a building  

i) that remain after a demolition,  
ii) that are affected by but that are not directly involved in alterations, or  
iii) that are affected by but not directly involved in additions,  

k) except as permitted by the British Columbia Fire Code, the installation, replacement, or 
alteration of materials or equipment regulated by this Code, 

1.1.1.2.   Application to Existing Buildings  
1) Where a building is altered, rehabilitated, renovated or repaired, or there is a change in 
occupancy, the level of life safety and building performance shall not be decreased below a 
level that already exists. (See Note A-1.1.1.2.(1).) 

 
Section 1.1.  General 
1.1.4.  Fire Safety Plan 
1.1.1.4.1.  Fire Safety Plan 
  1) Fire safety plans shall conform to the British Columbia Fire Code. 
 
Section 1.2.  Compliance  
1.2.1.   Compliance with this Code  
1.2.1.1.   Compliance with this Code  

1) Compliance with this Code shall be achieved by  
a) complying with the applicable acceptable solutions in Division B (seeNoteA-
1.2.1.1.(1)(a)), or  
b) except as required by Sentence (3), using alternative solutions, accepted by the 
authority having jurisdiction under Section 2.3 of Division C, that will achieve at least 
the minimum level of performance required by Division B in the areas defined by the 
objectives and functional statements attributed to the applicable acceptable solutions 
(seeNoteA-1.2.1.1.(1)(b)).  

2) For the purposes of compliance with this Code as required in Clause 1.2.1.1.(1)(b), the 
objectives and functional statements attributed to the acceptable solutions in Division B shall 
be the objectives and functional statements referred to in Subsection1.1.2. of Division B.  
3) An alternative solution shall not be used in place of an acceptable solution if the acceptable 
solution expressly requires conformance to a provincial enactment other than Book I (General) 
or Book II (Plumbing Systems) of the British Columbia Building Code.  
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1.2.1.2.   Responsibility of Owner  

1) Unless otherwise specified in this Code, the owner of a building shall be the person 
responsible for carrying out the provisions of this Code in relation to that building.  
2) The owner of a building is in no way relieved of full responsibility for complying with this 
Code by the authority having jurisdiction 

a) granting a building permit,  
b) approving drawings or specifications, or  
c) carrying out inspections. 

 
Section 3.3  Fire Protection, Occupant Safety and Accessibility 
Section 3.3  Safety within Floor Areas 
3.3.1.5.  Egress Doorways  

1) Except for dwelling units, a minimum of 2 egress doorways located so that one doorway 
could provide egress from the room or suite as required by Article 3.3.1.3. if the other doorway 
becomes inaccessible to the occupants due to a fire which originates in the room or suite, shall 
be provided for every room and every suite 

c) in a floor area that is not sprinklered throughout, and  
i) the area of a room or suite is more than the value in Table 3.3.1.5.-A, or  
ii) the travel distance within the room or suite to the nearest egress doorway is 
more than the value in Table 3.3.1.5.-A 

 
3.3.1.23. Obstructions  

1) No obstruction shall be permitted in any occupancy that would restrict the width of a 
normal means of egress from any part of a floor area to less than 750 mm unless an alternative 
means of egress is provided adjacent to, accessible from, and plainly visible from the 
obstructed means of egress. (See Note A-3.3.1.23.(1).) 

 
3.3.4.7.  Stairs, Ramps, Landings, Handrails and Guards for Dwelling Units  

1) Except as required in Article 3.3.4.8., stairs, ramps, landings, handrails and guards within a 
dwelling unit shall conform to the appropriate requirements in Section 9.8.  

 
3.3.4.8.  Protection of Openable Windows 
 
3.3.4.9.   Resistance to Forced Entry  

1) Dwelling units shall conform to Article 9.7.2.1. and Subsection 9.7.5 
 
Section 7.1.  General  
7.1.1.   Scope  
7.1.1.1.   Scope  

1) The scope of this Part shall be as described in Subsection 1.3.3. of Division A.  
 
7.1.1.2.   Application  

1) This Part applies to the design, construction, extension, alteration, renewal or repair of 
plumbing systems.  

7.1.2.   Design and Installation  
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7.1.2.1. Conformance 
1) Every plumbing system shall be designed and installed in conformance with Book II
(Plumbing Systems) of this Code.

7.1.3. Required Facilities
7.1.3.1. All Buildings Except Dwelling Units

1) Buildings shall be equipped with plumbing facilities as required in Subsection 3.7.2. and
Article 3.8.2.8.

7.1.3.2. Dwelling Units
1) Dwelling units shall be equipped with plumbing facilities as required in Section 9.31.

7.1.4. Definitions
7.1.4.1. Defined Terms

1) Words that appear in italics are defined in Article1.4.1.2. of Division A.

City of Port Alberni Fire Control Bylaw No. 4876 

Relevant Provisions: 
Section 16; Fire Protection Equipment 
(a) Every owner of premises must ensure that all Fire Protection Equipment required under the Building

Code or Fire Code is inspected, tested and maintained in accordance with good engineering practices and 
the applicable standards, requirements and guidelines of the Building Code, the Building Bylaw, the Fire
Code, this Bylaw and all other applicable enactments, all as amended or replaced from time to time, and
any equivalents or alternative solutions required or accepted under those enactments.

Section 19; Activation of a Fire Alarm System 
(b) A person must not activate a Fire Alarm System unless:

(i) there is a fire;

(ii) the person reasonably believes that a fire or other Incident is occurring or is imminent; or

(iii) the activation is carried out for testing purposes by persons authorized by the Fire Chief.

Section 21; No Obstructions 
(c) A person must not cause to be placed, stored, or maintained upon any roof or balcony any material or

object which may interfere with access or egress or Fire Department operations in case of fire or other
emergency, and shall remove all such objects or materials upon the order of the Fire Chief or any
Member.

(d) A person must not obstruct access passageways on a roof surface required by the Fire Code or Building
Code.

(e) Every owner or occupier of premises must at all times ensure that all exits and means of egress required
under the Building Code, Fire Services Act, Fire Code or the Building Bylaw or the Building Standards
Bylaw are properly maintained and remain unobstructed at all times.
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BC Fire Code   
Relevant Provisions 

Section 2.1. General 
2.1.1. Scope 
2.1.1.1. Application 

1) This Part provides for the safety of the occupants in existing buildings, the elimination or
control of fire hazards in and around buildings, the installation and maintenance of certain life
safety systems in buildings, the installation and maintenance of posted signs and information,
and the establishing of a fire safety plan in those occupancies where it is considered necessary.

2.1.3.3. Smoke Alarms  
(See Note A-2.1.3.3.) 
1) Smoke alarms shall be installed in each dwelling unit and, except for care, treatment or
detention occupancies required to have a fire alarm system, in each sleeping room not within a
dwelling unit.
2) Smoke alarms within dwelling units shall be installed between each sleeping area and the
remainder of the dwelling unit, and where the sleeping areas are served by hallways, the
smoke alarms shall be installed in the hallways.
3) Smoke alarms shall be installed in conformance with CAN/ULC-S553, “Installation of Smoke
Alarms.”
4) Smoke alarms are permitted to be battery operated in a) a building that is not supplied with
electrical power, or b) locations within a dwelling unit where smoke alarms were not required
by the British Columbia Building Code at the time of construction or alteration of the dwelling
unit.

2.1.3.6. Inspection, Maintenance and Testing of Fire Safety Devices 
(See Note A-2.1.3.6.)  
1) Where specific references to the inspection, maintenance and testing of fire safety devices
and building fire safety features are not made in this Code, such devices and features shall be
maintained to ensure they operate as per their design or function according to their original
intent.

2.1.4. Posted Information 
2.1.4.1. Posting  

1) Where a sign, notice, placard or information is required to be posted, it shall be
a) clearly legible, and
b) except as provided in Sentence (2), permanently mounted in a conspicuous or
prominent location in proximity to the situation to which it refers.

2) Where the situation for which posting is required is of a temporary nature, permanent
mounting need not be provided.

2.1.4.2. Maintenance 
1) Every sign, notice, placard or information that is required to be posted shall be maintained in
conformance with Article 2.1.4.1.

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 28



Regular Meeting of Council 
  Staff Report – 5170 Argyle St [Port Pub] Nuisance/Remedial Considerations  

January 22, 2024 
   

P a g e  11 | 15 

 

 
 2.1.5.   Portable Extinguishers  
2.1.5.1.   Selection and Installation  

1) Portable extinguishers shall be installed in all buildings except dwelling units.  
2) Except as otherwise required by this Code, portable extinguishers shall be selected and 
installed in accordance with NFPA 10, “Portable Fire Extinguishers.”  
5) Portable extinguishers in proximity to a fire hazard shall be located so as to be accessible 
without exposing the operator to undue risk. (See Note A-2.1.5.1.(5).)  

 
2.1.3.   Fire Safety Installations 
 
Section 2.7. Safety to Life 
2.7.1.   Means of Egress 2.7.1.1. Means of Egress  

1) Means of egress shall be provided in buildings in conformance with the British Columbia 
Building Code. 

 
2.7.1.6.   Maintenance  

1) Means of egress shall be maintained in good repair and free of obstructions. 
 

2.7.3.  Exit Lighting, Exit Signs and Emergency Lighting  
2.7.3.1.  Installation and Maintenance 1) Means of egress lighting, emergency lighting, exit signs and 

the location of exit signs in buildings shall conform to the British Columbia Building Code. 
(See Note A-2.7.3.1.(1).)  
2) Exit lighting and exit signs shall be illuminated during times when the building is occupied. 3) 
Emergency lighting and exit signs shall be maintained in operating condition, in conformance 
with Section 6.5. 
 

2.8.2.7.  Posting of Fire Emergency Procedures 1) At least one copy of the fire emergency procedures 
shall be prominently posted on each floor area. 

 
Section 2.8.  Emergency Planning  
2.8.1.  General  
2.8.1.1.  Application  

1) Fire emergency procedures conforming to this Section shall be provided for a) every 
building containing an assembly, care, treatment or detention occupancy,  
b) every building required by the British Columbia Building Code to have a fire alarm 
system,  
c) demolition and construction sites regulated under Section 5.6.,  
d) storage areas required to have a fire safety plan in conformance with 
Articles 3.2.2.5. and 3.3.2.9.,  
e) areas where flammable liquids or combustible liquids are stored or handled, in 
conformance with Article 4.1.5.5., and  
f) areas where hazardous processes or operations occur, in conformance with 
Article 5.1.5.1.  

2.8.1.2.   Training of Supervisory Staff  
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1) Supervisory staff shall be trained in the fire emergency procedures described in the fire 
safety plan before they are given any responsibility for fire safety. (See Note A-2.8.1.2.(1).) 

2.8.1.3.   Keys and Special Devices  
1) Any keys or special devices needed to operate the fire alarm system or provide access to any 
fire protection systems or equipment shall be readily available to on-duty supervisory staff.  
 

 
2.8.2.   Fire Safety Plan  
2.8.2.1.   Measures in a Fire Safety Plan  

1) In buildings or areas described in Article 2.8.1.1., a fire safety plan conforming to this Section 
shall be prepared in cooperation with the fire department and other applicable regulatory 
authorities and shall include  

a) the emergency procedures to be used in case of fire, including  
i) sounding the fire alarm (see Note A-2.8.2.1.(1)(a)(i)),  
ii) notifying the fire department,  
iii) instructing occupants on procedures to be followed when the fire alarm 
sounds,  
iv) evacuating occupants, including special provisions for persons requiring 
assistance (see Note A-2.8.2.1.(1)(a)(iv)),  
v) confining, controlling and extinguishing the fire,  

b) the appointment and organization of designated supervisory staff to carry out fire 
safety duties,  
c) the training of supervisory staff and other occupants in their responsibilities for fire 
safety,  
d) documents, including diagrams, showing the type, location and operation of the 
building fire emergency systems,  
e) the holding of fire drills,  
f) the control of fire hazards in the building, and g) the inspection and maintenance of 
building facilities provided for the safety of occupants. (See Note A-2.8.2.1.(1).)  

2) The fire safety plan shall be reviewed at intervals not greater than 12 months to ensure that 
it takes account of changes in the use and other characteristics of the building. 

 
Site History/Issues: 
The registered owner on title for the Property is 1052162 BC Ltd. (the “Owner”) and P. WANG, is the Director of 
the Company. 
 
The Property operates 3 businesses from this location: 
 

o Port Pub holding a valid business license by 1185818 BC Ltd 
o Port Hotel holding a valid business licence by 1109898 BC Ltd  
o Toad’s Hoppin Delivery Services holding a valid business license by Todd Peterson 

 
The Bylaw Department has expended significant resources in an attempt to gain compliance. The Property 
currently has the highest call volumes in Port Alberni, requiring the most resources. These resources include 
Police, Fire, Building and Bylaw Services. In 2023, there were 15 files generated for Bylaw Services; 24 Bylaw 
Offence tickets have been issued to the property owner in 2023 resulting in only 5 of them being paid, and 
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none being disputed. To date the amount owing in outstanding bylaw tickets, less pending disputes, totals 
$7,812.50.  As additional information, the Port Alberni Fire Department responded to 92 calls for service in 
2023.  The RCMP had 88 calls for service in 2023, up from 48 in the prior year (Appendix B). 

This property was first introduced to the nuisance abatement working group in March 2020 which later 
resulted in Council passing a series of resolutions for remedial action in September 2020. In October 2020 staff 
met with the Property owner and manager on-site to review actions that had taken place following the order.  
As the majority of items had been remedied Council resolved; 

 THAT Council direct staff to refrain from considering enforcement measures so long as significant and 
 appropriate progress continues to be made on the part of the property owner/manager on completing 
 the outstanding Remedial Action Requirements as ordered by Council at its meeting held September 14, 
 2020.  Further, that Council will revisit this matter at its Regular meeting on November 23, 2020 to 
 ensure remedial action requirements have been or are continuing to be met. [Res No. 20-283]. 
 
A Reminder of the Remedial Action Order was sent to the property owner in February 2021.  Despite the property 
undergoing improvements during that time, the Property is periodically or currently in violation of the following 
Bylaws: 

Anti-litter Bylaw No. 4874 
Building Bylaw No. 5077 
Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975 
Fire Control Bylaw No. 4876 
Noise Control Bylaw No. 4718 
Property Maintenance Bylaw No. 4712 
Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Bylaw No. 5030 
Zoning Bylaw No. 5074 
 
There have been four (4) Fire Inspections conducted between October 2023 and January 11, 2024.  The last 
Fire Inspection was attended by the Chief Fire Prevention Officer, two City Building Inspectors, one Bylaw 
Enforcement Officer, and the Building Owner P. Wang. A copy of the Fire Inspection Report is attached to this 
report as Appendix A. Staff note that the Fire Inspection Report refers to one item, posting unit numbers, as in 
contravenance to Bylaw 4577.  This is a typo and should read Bylaw 5077. The most concerning violations are 
from the Fire Control Bylaw, with the emergency doors not working as intended, tied open or barricaded with 
garbage piled at the bottom of the fire escape.  
 
There is significant garbage accumulating inside of the Structure often extending out into the alley, sidewalk 
and fire exits, obstructing egress. Inside, communal washrooms are out of service, missing doors off of units, 
padlocks on the outside of doors, exposed wires, drug paraphernalia, rats, interior ceilings, walls and doors are 
full of holes, leaking water, missing drywall and black mold is visible throughout the top and bottom floors.  
 
The Fire Department has responded to 46 verified false alarm calls and 94 calls for service in 2023. These 
alarms appear to have been activated due to causes including leaks in the roof, smoking in the area of the 
alarm, and intentional setting off the alarm. The Fire Department has also observed during its inspections of 
the Building that emergency lights/exit signs are broken and not working, obstructions to access panels, 
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hallways and stairwells are obstructed, non-compliant use of extension cords to name a few.  Also noted was 
water leaking from the roof which was leaking from the top floor all the way to the bottom floor.    
 
ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 

1) That Council declare the Property to be in a hazardous condition by virtue of its breaches of the 
Building Bylaw, Building Standards Bylaw and the Fire Bylaw, as well as being a nuisance and so 
dilapidated and unclean to be offensive to the community, and impose remedial action requirements 
as identified in the recommendations of this report. 

2) That Council provide staff with alternate direction. 
3) That Council take no action at this time. 

 
ANALYSIS 
Due the variety of bylaw infractions, calls requiring emergency response and impacts to public health and 
safety, staff are recommending that the subject property be declared to be in hazardous condition, a nuisance, 
so dilapidated and unclean as to be offensive to the community, and remedial actions be imposed. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
The Property is in violation of many City bylaws, and has numerous outstanding violation tickets. Voluntary 
compliance, letters, orders, tickets, and site inspections have not resulted in compliance. 
 
The continuing and sustained pattern of nuisance activity inside the Structure and on the Property is negatively 
impacting the community, and the building deficiencies are creating immense concern for safety. The safety of 
the residents, visitors, workers, City Staff and first responders are all jeopardized by these ongoing infractions. 
This is not in line with the City’s Strategic Plan and the principal ‘Fostering a complete community (safe, healthy 
and inclusive)’.  
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
The Community Charter requires formal notification be given to the Property’s registered owner and to the 
holders of any charges listed on the Property’s assessment roll should Council pass a remedial action 
requirement as outlined in this report, and requires providing for an opportunity for the owner to request 
Council’s reconsideration of the matter. Specifically, a notice of the resolution imposing the remedial action 
requirement will be provided in accordance with sections 77(1) and (2) of the Community Charter, with section 
77(3) setting out specific content that must also be included, to the Property owner and registered share 
holders. 
 
BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
Anti-litter Bylaw No. 4874 
Building Bylaw No. 5077 
Building Standards Bylaw No. 4975 
Fire Control Bylaw No. 4876 
Noise Control Bylaw No. 4718 
Property Maintenance Bylaw No. 4712 
Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Bylaw No. 5030 
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Zoning Bylaw No. 5074 
 
SUMMARY 
This report provides Council with information pertaining to the compliance and nuisance issues related to the 
Property at 5170 Argyle Street. The recommendations in this report to issue a Remedial Action Order meet the 
Community Charter requirements and outline the process by which the issues on this Property may be 
resolved.   
 
ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 

• Fire Inspection Report and Photos dated January 11, 2024  
• RCMP correspondence dated January 18, 2024 
• Report to Council | September 14, 2020 
• Report to Council | October 26, 2020 

  
Copy: M. Fox, CAO 
 M. Owens, Fire Chief 
 M. Thompson, Acting OIC, RCMP 
 D. Monteith, Director of Corporate Services 
 S. Smith, Director of Development Services/Deputy CAO 
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Port Alberni Fire Department
3699 10th Avenue

Port Alberni BC V9Y 4W3
250-724-1351

Inspection Report

Basic Info
Name Port Pub Hotel
Address 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC
Inspector Name Derrin Fines
Completion Date 2024-01-11
Status Unsatisfactory
Next Inspection Date 2024-02-01

Summary
Item Status
Ensure fire lanes are kept unobstructed. Sat
Lockbox keys. Sat
Remove obstructions from fire department connection. Sat
Replace missing caps. Sat
Remove combustible waste materials. Sat
Fire Alarm requires annual test Sat
Fire Extinguisher requires annual inspection. Sat
Mount portable fire extinguishers. Sat
Replace missing fire extinguishers. Sat
Exit sign requires annual inspection. Sat
Ensure signs are illuminated while building is occupied. Sat
Emergency Light requires annual test. Sat
Sprinkler/standpipe requires annual inspection. Sat
Remove sprinkler obstruction. Sat

Findings
Item Status Code
Post building and unit address numbers. Unsat See below code CPA 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

1 / 39
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Item Status Code

Post unit numbers. - identify all units
BYLAW 4577

Excessive Storage of Combustibles in Building

No accumulations of combustible storage allowed

Unsat See below code BCFC 
3.2.1.1

Repair trouble condition.

Repair  Fire Alarm in trouble mode

Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.7.1.1

Repair/replace defective equipment.

Emergency lighting  must be repaired to function as 
required

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.7.3.1

Repair exit doors/hardware. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.2

Remove obstructions from access to exit door. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.7.1.6

Remove obstructions to access panels. Unsat See below code BCFC 
5.1.2.2

Non-compliant use of extension cords. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.4.7.1

Replace missing cover plates.

Multiple missing cover plates throughout the building

Unsat See below code BCFC 
5.1.2.2

Repair electrical fire hazards. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.6.3.1

Repair fire separation.

Repair all holes in the drywall and ceilings

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.1.2

Adjust or repair doors in fire separations to close and latch.

All doors must close the opening, and be able to close and 
latch

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.1.2

Prepare a Fire Safety Plan and submit to the Fire 
Department for review.

Fire Safety Plan is required 

Unsat See below code Div. B 
Section 2.8

19. Other - Smoke  detectors  - Replace missing smoke 
alarms from all units

Unsat See below code 0

19. Other - Fire escape - Repair broken hand railing Unsat See below code 0

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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Inspection Code Reference
(CPA BYLAW 4577) --- : 
(BCFC 3.2.1.1) --- : 
(BCFC 6.7.1.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.7.3.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.2.2) --- : 
(BCFC 2.7.1.6) --- : 
(BCFC 5.1.2.2) --- : 
(BCFC 2.4.7.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.6.3.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.2.1.2) --- : 
(Div. B Section 2.8) --- : 
(0) --- No Code Name: No Code Description

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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no unit identification 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor,east emergency exit- combustible materials

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor middle hallway - combustible storage

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor combustible storage 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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boiler room - combustible storage

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

8 / 39

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 41



3rd floor south hallway

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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fire alarm still in trouble mode

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

10 / 39

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 43



3rd floor missing detector

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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water dripping from restaurant kitchen hallway detector

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

12 / 39

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 45



pub emergency light requires repair

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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east end downstairs emergency light inoperative

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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north east corner, ground floor emergency light requires maintenance 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2nd floor emergency light missing light head

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor, east end emergency exit doesnt close and latch

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2nd floor fire escape door doesnt close and latch

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor fire escape door- closure device not connected 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor east end- combustible containers blocking path to exit. 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

20 / 39

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 53



3rd floor discarded appliance blocking path to exit

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor car bumper cover in hallway

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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combustible storage in front of electrical panel - downstairs. 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2nd floor extension cord not allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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extension cord. ot allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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extension cord usage not allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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extension cord usage not allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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extension cord usage not allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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extension cord usage 3 rd floor unit to roof not allowed

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor unit no cover plates

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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improper wiring on signs at pub entrance 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2nd floor ceiling drywall seperation

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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door behind kitchen doesnt completely close the opening 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11

33 / 39

APPENDIX A

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 66



repair storage unit ceiling drywall

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor repair ceiling drywall

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2nd floor -repair door to close  

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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3rd floor storage unit smoke detector

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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2 nd floor #11

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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broken railing fire escape 3rd floor

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-01-11
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From: Hamlyn, Jordan (RCMP/GRC)
To: Donna Monteith
Cc: Thompson, Mike (RCMP/GRC); Ivezich, Kim (RCMP/GRC)
Subject: RE: 5170 Argyle St
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2024 7:45:42 AM
Attachments: image001.png

You don't often get email from jordan.hamlyn@rcmp-grc.gc.ca. Learn why this is important

Morning Donna,

Of course! I had some numbers prepared for the meeting that was scheduled for yesterday.

The RCMP have had 88 calls for service to 5170 Argyle Street between January , 2023 and December
31, 2023. This is an increase from 48 calls, the year prior. Calls for service at this location include
murder, assaults with weapons, sexual assaults, assaults, missing persons, mental health and a
plethora of other property offences. The Port Alberni RCMP spend a considerable amount of time at
this particular building.

During routine patrols and while attending calls, police have observed tenants of the building to be
living in deplorable conditions, which include excessive accumulation of human waste and refuse in
the hallway. Police routinely observe persons in their open rooms, or common hallways/stairwells
under the influence of opiates and other illicit drugs. As recent as yesterday, the rear fire escape was
overloaded with garbage, rendering it inoperable. There are extension cords running from room to
room and the ceilings in several units have collapsed due to moisture levels and flooding. The
building is in a general state of disrepair and no longer possesses the basic amenities required to
provide a safe living environment for tenants.  

Jordan

Cpl Jordan Hamlyn
OPS Support NCO
Port Alberni RCMP
(T) 250-723-2424
(F) 250-724-8986
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of March 11, 2024 

Date: March 4, 2024 
File No:  4020-30 NR 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: 5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] – Remedial Action Order Update

Prepared by: 

D, MONTEITH 

DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE
SERVICES 

Supervisor: 

M. FOX 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

CAO Concurrence: 

 

M. FOX, CAO

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT Council receive the report ‘5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] - Remedial Action Order Update’ dated March 4, 
2024.  

PURPOSE 
This report provides Council with an update regarding the Remedial Action Order issued to the owners of the 
property at 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni.  

BACKGROUND 
At the Regular Council meeting on January 22, 2024 Council resolved to issue a Remedial Action Order to the 
owners of 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni.  Staff prepared notice of the remedial action requirements and 
delivered such notice to all current Directors of 1052162 BC Ltd. listed as of January 23, 2024. The notice 
included the right to appeal with a deadline in writing of February 7, 2024 by 5:00 pm.  No appeals were 
received.  The notice also provided a deadline of February 23, 2024 by 5:00 pm to remediate, otherwise failure 
to comply with the requirements will result in the City proceeding, pursuant to the Community Charter s. 17, to 
undertake the actions to remedy the contraventions.    

Further to the Remedial Action Order, a Fire Order was issued to the owners on February 21, 2024 requiring 
the fire alarm system be repaired and verified by a professional as fully functional. In 2024 False Alarm Incident 
Fees fines totalling $2,400 have been issued under “Fire Control Bylaw, 2015, Bylaw No. 4876” up to and 
including February 27, 2024. In addition, the Order requires the owners to hire a third-party security company 
to supply at least two security officers to provide a fire watch on the building. The Order remains in effect at 
the date of writing this report.  

Following the deadline of the Remedial Action Order, an inspection was conducted by City Building Inspectors, 
a Bylaw Officer, a Structural Engineer from McGill and Associates Engineering and Port Alberni Fire Department 
Chief Fire Prevention Officer on Monday February 26, 2024 at 9:00 am.  The Inspection Report [attached] 
shows little to no improvement from the previous inspections. 
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ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
1. THAT Council receive the report ‘5170 Argyle Street [Port Pub] - Remedial Action Order Update’ dated

March 4, 2024.

ANALYSIS 
Staff engaged in the services of McGill & Associates Engineering to attend the February 26th inspection in order 
to get an initial assessment of the structural integrity of the building.  It is important to note that a Fire 
Inspection covers commercial and common spaces of a building. To date the City has not inspected areas 
outside this jurisdiction, including residential rooms. Further inspection by the structural engineer to consider 
the overall condition of the building, along with consultation of an Architect is anticipated. To achieve this the 
City will work with the owners to give notice to the tenants to provide City representatives access to all rooms 
for this inspection.  Following that staff will bring forward a list of repairs and cost estimates.  

IMPLICATIONS 
The costs to remediate the building could be significant, and will involve careful financial planning as the City 
will need to fund the repairs in advance of cost recovery. Once a scope of work is estimated, a report will be 
brought forward by staff for Council consideration.  If the City proceeds with repairs the Community Charter s. 
17 allows the City to fulfil the requirements of Remedial Action Order at the expense of the owner, and recover 
the costs incurred as a debt. The City will continue to apply fees and fines as provided within associated bylaws. 

COMMUNICATIONS 
City staff have fielded inquiries regarding the Remedial Action Order as it relates to residential tenants.  Staff 
continue to communicate with the owners, Ministry of Housing, BC Housing, Ministry of Social Development 
and Poverty Reduction, and local service providers. Tenants are encouraged to contact the Residential Tenancy 
Branch with questions.  

BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
“Fire Control Bylaw, 2015, Bylaw No. 4876” 

SUMMARY 
This report provides Council with an update and next steps regarding the Remedial Action Order issued to the 
owners of the property at 5170 Argyle Street, which expired February 23, 2024.   

ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 
• February 26, 2024 Inspection Report
• February 21, 2024 Fire Order
• January 22, 2024 Report to Council

Copy: M. Fox, CAO 
M. Owens, Fire Chief
S. Smith, Director of Development Services/Deputy CAO
MC. Massicotte, Mgr. of Community Safety and Social Development
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Port Alberni Fire Department
3699 10th Avenue

Port Alberni BC V9Y 4W3
250-724-1351

Inspection Report

Basic Info
Name Port Pub Hotel
Address 5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC
Inspector Name Derrin Fines
Completion Date 2024-05-22
Status Unsatisfactory
Next Inspection Date 2024-05-29

Summary
Item Status
Ensure fire lanes are kept unobstructed. Sat
Lockbox keys. Sat
Post building and unit address numbers. Sat
Remove obstructions from fire department connection. Sat
Fire Extinguisher requires annual inspection. Sat
Mount portable fire extinguishers. Sat
Replace missing fire extinguishers. Sat
Exit sign requires annual inspection. Sat

Remove sprinkler obstruction. Sat

Findings
Item Status Code
Replace missing caps. Unsat See below code BCFC 

6.4.1.1
Remove combustible waste materials. Unsat See below code BCFC
Excessive Storage of Combustibles in Building Unsat See below code BCFC 

3.2.1.1

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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Item Status Code
Fire Alarm requires annual test

Fire alarm is still required to be repaired and verified. 

Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.3.1.2

Repair trouble condition.

Fire Alarm in trouble mode. Some detectors have been 
bypassed pending separation  repair 

Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.7.1.1

Ensure signs are illuminated while building is occupied. Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.5.1.6

Emergency Light requires annual test.

Repair all emergency lights and perform annual test. 

Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.5.1.7

Repair/replace defective equipment.

Emergency lighting  must be repaired to function as 
required

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.7.3.1

Repair exit doors/hardware. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.2

Remove obstructions from access to exit door. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.7.1.6

Sprinkler/standpipe requires annual inspection.

Sprinkler System requires repair and annual inspection

Unsat See below code BCFC 
6.4.1.1

Remove obstructions to access panels. Unsat See below code BCFC 
5.1.2.2

Non-compliant use of extension cords. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.4.7.1

Replace missing cover plates.

Multiple missing cover plates throughout the building

Unsat See below code BCFC 
5.1.2.2

Repair electrical fire hazards. Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.6.3.1

Repair fire separation.

Repair all holes in the drywall and ceilings

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.1.2

Adjust or repair doors in fire separations to close and latch.

All doors must close the opening, and be able to close and 
latch

Unsat See below code BCFC 
2.2.1.2

Prepare a Fire Safety Plan and submit to the Fire 
Department for review.

Fire Safety Plan is required  and has not been provided 

Unsat See below code Div. B 
Section 2.8

19. Other - Smoke  detectors  - Replace missing smoke
alarms from all units

Unsat See below code 0

19. Other -  Interior staircase and fire escape - Repair Unsat See below code 0

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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Item Status Code
broken hand railing 

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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Inspection Code Reference
(BCFC 6.4.1.1) --- : 
(BCFC) --- : 
(BCFC 3.2.1.1) --- : 
(BCFC 6.3.1.2) --- : 
(BCFC 6.7.1.1) --- : 
(BCFC 6.5.1.6) --- : 
(BCFC 6.5.1.7) --- : 
(BCFC 2.7.3.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.2.2) --- : 
(BCFC 2.7.1.6) --- : 
(BCFC 5.1.2.2) --- : 
(BCFC 2.4.7.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.6.3.1) --- : 
(BCFC 2.2.1.2) --- : 
(Div. B Section 2.8) --- : 
(0) --- No Code Name: No Code Description

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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ensure fire department connection is clear and replace cap

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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remove outside combustible storage

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27
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remove outside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage
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inside combustible storage

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27

14 / 77REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 103



inside combustible storage
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Fire alarm requires repair
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Fire alarm requires repair
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Fire alarm requires repair
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Fire alarm requires repair
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Replace bypassed detector
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Replace bypassed detector
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Replace bypassed detector
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repair exit sign to illuminate
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repair exit sign to illuminate
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Repair emergency lighting
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Repair emergency lighting
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Repair emergency lighting
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Repair emergency lighting
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Repair exit door to close and latch
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Repair exit door to close and latch

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27

30 / 77REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 119



Repair exit door to close and latch
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Repair exit door to close and latch
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Remove slide locks on exit door 
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Repair exit door to open
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Remove obstructions to exit door
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Sprinkler System requires repair and annual inspection
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Remove sprinkler obstruction
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Remove obstruction to electrical panel
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  

5170 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC Date: 2024-05-27

49 / 77REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 138



Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Non compliant use of extension cords  
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Replace missing cover plate
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Replace missing cover plate
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Replace missing cover plate
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Replace missing cover plate
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Repair electrical fire hazard
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Repair electrical fire hazard
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Repair electrical fire hazard
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Repair electrical fire hazard
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Repair fire separation 
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Repair fire separation 
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Repair fire separation 
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Repair fire separation 
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Repair fire separation 
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repair window
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Repair door to close completely
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Repair door to close completely
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Repair door to close completely
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Repair door to close completely
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Remove non-compliant door hardware
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Remove non-compliant door hardware
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Repair door to close completely
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Repair door to close completely
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Repair damaged fire escape railing
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Repair damaged fire escape railing
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Repair damaged interior staircase railing 
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Repair damaged interior staircase railing 
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 

City Hall 
4850 Argyle Street 
Port Alberni, B.C. V9Y 1 VS 
Tel. (250) 723-2146 Fax: (250) 723-1003 

NOTICE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

NOTICE TO RESIDENTS AND OTHER AFFECTED PERSONS 

May 28, 2024@ 6:00 pm 

DONG, LIBIN 
FAN, QIAN Ml, DING 

2885 LAUREL ST 303-8611 ACKROYD RD
CHEMAINUS BC RICHMOND BC
V0R 1 K1 V6X 3P4

WANG, PING 

278 SELBY ST 
NANAIMO BC 
V9R 2R3 

Re: Lot 24 Block 86 District Lot 1 Alberni District Plan VIP 197 

Lot 23 Block 86 District Lot 1 Alberni District Plan VIP 197 

Civic Address: 5170 Argyle St, Port Alberni, BC 

Delivered by Email 

1052162 BC LTD 

432 FITZWILLIAM 
NANAIMO BC 
V9R 3B1 

TAKE NOTICE THAT the presence of asbestos has been confirmed at 5170 Argyle 

Street. Asbestos is a hazardous material that poses a risk to health. In light of this 

information, the City of Port Alberni is recommending that all tenants find alternative 

lodging as soon as possible to minimize their exposure to this harmful substance. Notices 

will be delivered to tenants this evening and posted on all entry and exit doors. 

The City's priority is the safety and well-being of all individuals involved and are working 

closely with WorkSafe BC, the Province, BC Housing and local service providers to 

address this situation. The City of Port Alberni will provide an update on Wednesday, May 

29th_

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 

� .r7 � ..._ � 
Mike Fox / 
Chief Administrative Officer 
250.723.2146 
mike fox@portalberni.ca 

c: D. Leurebourg, Director of Corporate Services
Chief Owens, PAFD
M. Massicotte, Manager of Community Safety and Social Development
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Councillor Report 

For June 24, 2024 

Councillor Debbie Haggard 

June 6 - 10, 2024 – Federation of Canadian Municipalities conference – 

Councillor’s Dame and Patola, Mayor Minions, CAO Fox and I attended the Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities annual conference. Over 3100 participants from coast to coast came together in Calgary 
to attend the largest FCM conference to date. The conference theme was Redefining our Future.  

Delegates attended a range of workshops, participated in panel discussions, visited the trade show and 
connected with colleagues and partners. Delegates also heard from a range of political keynotes: Prime 
Minister Trudeau, Minister Sean Fraser, Conservative MP Scott Anderson, NDP Leader Jagmeet Singh 
and Green Party Leader Elizabeth May.  

I attended a walking tour of downtown Calgary which highlighted downtown revitalization, revitalization 
of the waterfront, public access to their waterfront and the bringing together of neighborhoods and 
communities. This mirrored a lot of the strategic priorities that this council has identified for Port 
Alberni.   

Port Alberni delegates attended a reception hosted by the Port Authority and we expressed our 
appreciation and excitement for the upcoming national Port Authority conference that will be held in 
Port Alberni in September.  

June 12, 2024 – Alberni Clayoquot Regional District Board meeting – Highlights include: 

• The Terms of Reference for the Emergency Executive Committee were amended to add the
ACRD CAO and the City of Port Alberni CAO.

• The ACRD Board of Directors support the grant funding application to Local Government
Infrastructure Planning Grant Program for the Building Energy Efficiency Assessment of the
ACRD 5th Avenue Administrative Building, the Beaver Creek Fire Hall, Harold Bishop Fire Hall,
Lakeshore Fire Hall, East Bamfield Fire Hall, Eileen Scott Centennial Park Building and the Long
Beach Airport.

• The ACRD Board of Directors provide direction to staff regarding meeting requests in
conjunction with the 2024 UBCM convention respecting issues/concerns impacting communities
in the Alberni-Clayoquot region.

June 14, 2024 – Annual meeting with MLA Osborne – Members of Council and staff attended a meeting 
with our local MLA, Josie Osborne. We discussed a wide range of topics including: 

• Housing needs
• Stabilization beds
• Medical needs
• Hole in the Wall
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June 17, 2024 – Industrial Heritage Center – The Industrial Heritage Society invited Council to attend 
school tours at the Industrial Heritage Center. The tour included life 100 years ago, making of a pencil 
box, making of a button, using a printing press, and firefighting. Councillor Solda and I had great fun 
playing the “I Spy” game with the children!  
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of June 24, 2024 

Date: June 20, 20024 
File No: 0640-20-2023 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: Annual Report 2023

Prepared by: 

D. LEUREBOURG 

DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE
SERVICES 
 

Supervisor: 

M. FOX 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE
OFFICER  

CAO Concurrence: 

 

M. Fox, CAO

RECOMMENDATION[S] 
THAT Council for the City of Port Alberni endorse the Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023, as 
presented. 

PURPOSE 
To receive Council endorsement of the 2023 Annual Report. 

BACKGROUND 
Under the Community Charter, each year prior to June 30th, municipalities are required to produce an annual 
report which states their goals and objectives for the coming year and demonstrates what progress has been 
made toward the preceding year's goals and objectives.  

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
1. That Council for the City of Port Alberni endorse the Annual Report for the year ended December 31,

2023, as presented.
2. That Council provide amendments to the 2023 Annual Report and endorse, as amended.

ANALYSIS 
The Community Charter stipulates that each year Council must prepare an annual report and make the report 
available for public inspection. The annual report must include: 

• The municipality's audited annual financial statements for the previous year

• A list of the permissive tax exemptions provided by the municipal council, and for each
exemption, the amount of property tax that would have been imposed during the previous
year if the exemption had not been granted

• A report on the municipality's services and operations for the previous year

• A progress report on the performance of the municipality with respect to established
objectives and measures
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Regular Council Meeting 
Staff Report – Annual Report 2023 

June 20, 2024 

P a g e  2 | 2 

• A statement of objectives and measures that will be used as the basis for determining the
municipality's performance during the current year and following year

• The details of any declarations of disqualification made against individual council members
during the previous year

Council may include any other information that it deems appropriate for the annual report. 

IMPLICATIONS 
As per the Community Charter Section 98(1) before June 30 in each year, a council must 

(a) prepare an annual report, and

(b) make the report available for public inspection under section 97.

Cost implications include advertisement in the Alberni Valley News for public notice and the production of hard 
copy reports.  

In the event Council directs amendments to the report, staff are requesting that the report be endorsed today 
as amended in order to still meet the legislative deadline of June 30th. Staff would ensure amendments were 
applied prior to the deadline.  

COMMUNICATIONS 
Section 99 of the Community Charter stipulates that the annual report must be made available for public 
inspection 14 days before the annual public meeting. Public notice was advertised in the June 12th and 19th 
editions of the Alberni Valley News, on the City website and the Public Notice Posting Place.  

Following Council endorsement, the Annual Report will be made available online and in hard copy. A copy will 
also be provided to the province.  

BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
• 2023-2027 Corporate Strategic Plan

SUMMARY 
Under the Community Charter, each year prior to June 30th, municipalities are required to produce an annual 
report which states their goals and objectives for the coming year and demonstrates what progress has been 
made toward the preceding year's goals and objectives. 

Staff are requesting Council endorsement of the 2023 Annual Report. 

ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 
• 2023 Annual Report

c: S. Smith, Director of Development Services | Deputy CAO
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of June 24, 2024 

Date: June 14, 2024 
File No:  1880-24-SOFI 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: Statement of Financial Information | Year Ending December 31, 2023

Prepared by: 

A. MCGIFFORD 

Director of Finance 

Supervisor: 

M. FOX  

MIKE FOX, CHIEF
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

CAO Concurrence: 

 

Mike Fox, CAO 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT Council approve the statements and schedules included in the Statement of Financial Information for 
2023, prepared to comply with the Financial Information Act, as outlined in the report from the Director of 
Finance dated June 14, 2024. 

PURPOSE 
To provide Council with the annual report in order that Council can receive and then approve the Statement of 
Financial Information [SOFI] for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

BACKGROUND 
Pursuant to Section 2 of the Financial Information Act, the Local Government must prepare a Statement of 
Financial Information.  The format is prescribed by regulation pursuant to Section 3 of the Financial Information 
Regulation.  The requirement that Council must approve the statement is prescribed by Section 9(2) of the 
Financial Information Regulation. 

Attached is a copy of the Statement of Financial Information including all statements and schedules that are 
required for submission. 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
THAT Council approve the statements and schedules included in the Statement of Financial Information for 
2023, prepared to comply with the Financial Information Act, as outlined in the report from the Director of 
Finance dated June 14, 2024. 

ANALYSIS 
Not applicable. 

IMPLICATIONS 
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Regular Meeting of Council 
Staff Report – Statement of Financial Information | Year Ending December 31, 2023 

June 14, 2024 
   

P a g e  2 | 2 

 

The Statement of Financial Information must be approved and submitted to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
by June 30, 2024. 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
The SOFI report will be posted to the City’s website.  
 
BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
Not applicable. 
 
SUMMARY 
 Staff are requesting Council’s approval of the Statement of Financial Information for the year ending 
December 31, 2023 in order to meet legislated requirements of the Financial Information Act by the 
submission deadline of June 30, 2024.  
 
ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS  

• Statement of Financial Information - year ending December 31, 2023 
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
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The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the 
Financial Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and the integrity and objectivity of these 
statements are management’s responsibility. Management is also responsible for all the 
statements and schedules, and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where 
appropriate, with the information contained in the financial statements.

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. 

Council is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and internal control and exercises this responsibility through the Audit 
Committee of Council. The Audit Committee meets with management four times a year, 
and the external auditors once a year. 

The Director of Finance has the responsibility for assessing the management systems and 
practices of the corporation. 

The external auditors, MNP LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial 
statements. Their examination does not relate to the other schedules and statements 
required by the Act. Their examination includes a review and evaluation of the 
corporation's system of internal control and appropriate tests and procedures to provide 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly. The external 
auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee of Council and meet with it on 
a regular basis. 

On behalf of the City of Port Alberni

Name Andrew McGifford, CPA, CGA
Title * Director of Finance
Date Friday, June 14, 2024

* For municipalities, the officer assigned responsibility for financial administration signs
 Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 9 

MANAGEMENT REPORT
CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
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T: 250.753.8251   F: 250.754.3999400 MNP Place, 345 Wallace Street, Nanaimo B.C., V9R 5B6
MNP LLP

    MNP.ca

LLP - Nanaimo - 345 Wallace Street

Independent Auditor's Report

To Mayor and Council of the City of Port Alberni: 

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Port Alberni (the "City"), which comprise the

consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statements of operations

and accumulated operating surplus, changes in net financial assets (net debt) and cash flows and related schedules 1

to 4 for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of

our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the

consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its consolidated operations,

changes in its net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

As at December 31, 2023, the City has recorded an asset retirement obligation of $40,308,426 for remediation costs

related to sewage lagoons. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for this amount.

Consequently, we were not able to determine whether any adjustments would be necessary to asset retirement

obligation liabilities, tangible capital assets, amortization and accretion expenses, annual surplus, accumulated

surplus or change in net financial assets (net debt) for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities

under Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements

that are those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Other Matter

Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a

whole. The current year's supplementary information, including schedules 5 to 11, have been presented for purposes

of additional analysis. We do not express an audit opinion on schedules 5 to 11 because our examination did not

extend to the detailed information therein.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, consisting of an annual report, which is expected to be made

available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to

communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the City’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future

events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business

activities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

Nanaimo, British Columbia

April 22, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants

6REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 232



CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2023

2023 2022

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,807,017 $ 8,111,910
Investments (Note 3) 34,263,623 22,403,771
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 9,933,228 6,529,331
Inventory for resale 50,570 48,064
Investment in government business enterprise (Note 5) 2,404,599 2,741,214

48,459,037 39,834,290

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 9,792,923 11,708,095
Deferred revenue (Note 9) 7,155,985 6,927,514
Refundable deposits 1,970,988 1,250,752
Long-term debt (Note 11, Schedule 3) 21,003,293 12,999,838
Asset Retirement Obligations (Note 12) 42,617,953 -

82,541,142 32,886,199

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT) (34,082,105) 6,948,091

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Inventory of supplies 883,822 648,291
Prepaid expenses 297,956 237,277
Tangible capital assets (Note 15, Schedule 1) 200,747,291 152,396,485

201,929,069 153,282,053

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (NOTE 16) $ 167,846,964 $ 160,230,144

Approved on behalf of the City

  Andrew McGifford
  Director of Finance

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

REVENUE

Taxation (Schedule 4) $ 28,792,070 $ 27,873,962 $ 25,801,595
Sale of services 11,217,673 13,889,841 12,702,238
Other revenue from own sources 1,498,057 1,261,637 1,325,297
Investment income 450,000 1,782,059 623,066
Grants and transfers (Note 17) 6,069,314 14,346,216 3,989,808
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (96,709) (121,662)
(Loss) income from investment in government business (Note 5) - (36,615) 1,840,840

48,027,114 59,020,391 46,161,182

EXPENSES

General government services $ 5,764,459 $ 4,722,610 $ 4,851,527
Protective services 13,686,838 15,073,926 13,741,231
Transportation services 4,930,933 8,012,334 6,589,824
Environmental health services 1,423,933 1,337,703 1,419,095
Environmental and economic development 1,970,286 1,589,825 1,910,139
Recreation and cultural services 8,024,239 9,167,954 7,910,256
Water utility 1,937,328 2,843,718 2,927,816
Sewer utility 1,673,974 8,655,501 3,165,384
Other - - 1,573

39,411,990 51,403,571 42,516,845

ANNUAL SURPLUS 8,615,124 7,616,820 3,644,337

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 160,230,144 160,230,144 156,585,809

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS - END OF YEAR $ 168,845,268 $ 167,846,964 $ 160,230,144

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT)
As at December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

ANNUAL SURPLUS $ 8,615,124 $ 7,616,820 $ 3,644,334

Aquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (16,572,386) (16,432,538) (14,443,697)
Amortization - 9,082,957 5,615,586
Accretion - 1,520,017 -
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 96,709 121,662
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - - 138,000
Increase in Tangible Capital Assets due to Asset Retirement Obligations - (42,617,953) -

(7,957,262) (40,733,988) (4,924,115)

Acquisition of supply inventory - (883,822) (648,291)
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (297,956) (237,277)
Consumption of inventory of supplies - 648,291 518,079
Use of prepaid expenses - 237,277 139,176

- (296,210) (228,313)

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ( NET DEBT) (7,957,262) (41,030,198) (5,152,428)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 6,948,091 6,948,091 12,100,520

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ( NET DEBT) - END OF YEAR $ (1,009,171) $ (34,082,105) $ 6,948,091

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at December 31, 2023

2023 2022

Cash provided by (used in):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Annual surplus $ 7,616,820 $ 3,644,337
Non-cash items

Amortization 9,082,958 5,615,586
Accretion 1,520,017 -
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets 96,709 121,662
Income (loss) from investment in government business enterprise 36,615 (1,840,840)
Actuarial adjustment (132,296) (115,769)
Inventory of supplies (235,531) (130,212)
Prepaid expenses (60,679) (98,102)

Changes in working capital balances
Accounts receivable (3,403,897) (183,015)
Inventory for resale (2,506) 20,895
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,915,172) 3,251,420
Deferred revenue 228,471 1,440,040
Refundable deposits 720,236 198,549

13,551,745 11,924,551

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (16,432,538) (14,443,697)
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - 138,000

(16,432,538) (14,305,697)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividend from government business enterprise 300,000 300,000
Change in Investments (11,859,852) (2,163,205)

(11,559,852) (1,863,205)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of long-term debt (364,249) (364,250)
Proceeds from long-term debt 8,500,000 -

8,135,751 (364,250)

DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (6,304,894) (4,608,601)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Begining of Year 8,111,910 12,720,513

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 1,807,017 $ 8,111,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The City of Port Alberni (the "City") is a municipality in the Province of British Columbia and operates under the
provisions of the Community Charter. The activities of the City are carried out through the following funds:
General Revenue Fund, General Capital Fund, Reserve Funds, Water Revenue Fund, Water Capital Fund,
Sewer Revenue Fund, and Sewer Capital Fund.

The consolidated financial statements of the City are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB") of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. Significant accounting policies are as follows:

a) Reporting entity

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses,and accumulated
surplus of the City. Inter-departmental balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The City’s business partnership, the Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation, which is owned and
controlled by the City but not dependent on the City for their continuing operations, are included in the
consolidated financial statements using the modified equity method.

Under the modified equity method, the accounting policies for the wholly owned subsidiary are not adjusted to
conform to those of the city. The Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation reports under International
Financial Reporting Standards. The City’s investment in this entity is recorded at acquisition cost and is
increased for the proportionate share of post-acquisition earnings and decreased by post acquisition losses
and distributions received.

The City administers certain trusts on behalf of external parties which are excluded from the consolidated
financial statements.

b) Basis of presentation

The City practices fund accounting. Funds are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations. Funds currently in
use are:

General Revenue Fund

Account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The General
Revenue Fund is the City's operating fund including collection of taxation, administering operations, roads,
policing, fire protection etc.

Capital Funds

Account for all capital assets and unfunded work-in-progress of the City and offset by long-term debt and
investment in capital assets.
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of presentation (continued)

Reserve Funds

Account for activities within designated funds established for specific purposes with the approval of the Ministry
of Community Development. The funds are governed by bylaws defining their purpose and are funded primarily
by budgetary contributions from the General Revenue Fund plus interest earned on the fund balances.

Water and Sewer Funds

Account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business operations,
where the intent is that costs of providing the services on a continuing basis be financed through user charges.

c) Basis of accounting

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are normally
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as they are
incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to
pay.

d) Revenue recognition

Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year they are levied. Taxes may be adjusted by the Province by way of
supplementary roll adjustments through the BC Assessment appeal process. Levies imposed by other taxing
authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. Charges for water and sewer usage, solid waste
collection and recreation programs and admissions are recorded as sales of service and are recognized as
revenue when the service or product is rendered by the City. Development contributions are recorded as
contributed tangible capital assets at their fair value on the date of contribution. Other revenue is recorded
when performance of services is complete, amounts are measurable, and collectability is reasonably assured.
Income from investments in government business enterprises is recorded using the modified equity method
based on the annual earnings from the government business enterprise for the year.

e) Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as revenues when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are
met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a
liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer
revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled.

f) Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes non-government grants, contributions and other amounts received from third parties
pursuant to legislation, regulation and agreement which may only be used in certain programs, in the
completion of specific work, or for the purchase of tangible capital assets. In addition, certain user charges and
fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. Revenue is recognized in the period
when the related expenses are incurred, services performed, or the tangible capital assets are acquired.
Development cost charges are amounts which are restricted by government legislation or agreement with
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred revenue (continued)
external parties. When qualifying expenditures are incurred development cost charges are recognized as
revenue in amounts which equal the associated expenses.

g) Investment income

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned. When required by the funding government or
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the investment and forms part of the
deferred revenue balance. Investment income is allocated to various reserves and operating funds on a
proportionate basis.

h) Financial Instruments

The City recognizes its financial instruments when the City becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value. At initial recognition, the
City may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The City has not
made such an election during the year.

The City subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all
derivative instruments, except those that are linked to, and must be settled by delivery of, unquoted equity
instruments of another entity, at fair value. Fair value is determined by published price quotations.
Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date. Net gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. The City has not
presented a statement of remeasurement gains and losses as it does not have any items giving rise to
remeasurement gains (losses).

Interest income is recognized in the statement of operations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in
an active market and derivatives that are linked to, and must be settled by delivery of, unquoted equity
instruments of another entity, are subsequently measured at cost. With the exception of those instruments
designated at fair value, all other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the origination, acquisition,
issuance or assumption of financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately
recognized in operating annual surplus . Conversely, transaction costs are added to the carrying amount for
those financial instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

i) Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90 days or less at
acquisition.

j) Debt

Debt is recorded net of principal repayments and actuarial adjustments.

k) Employee future benefits

The City and its employees participate in a Municipal Pension Plan. The Plan is a multi-employer contributory
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Employee future benefits (continued)

defined benefit pension plan. Payments in the year are expensed. Sick leave benefits and retirement
severance benefits are also available to the City's employees. The costs of these benefits are actuarially
determined based on service and estimates of retirement ages and expected future salary and wage
increases. The obligation under these benefit plans is accrued based on projected benefit costs as employees
earn the future benefits.

l) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of
services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary
course of operations.

m) Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the period. Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating provisions for accounts receivable,
inventory, accrued liabilities, performing calculations of employee future benefits, estimating the useful lives of
tangible capital assets, and estimating asset retirement obligations. Liabilities for contaminated sites are
estimated based on the best information available regarding potentially contaminated sites that the City is
responsible for. Developer contributions of tangible capital assets are recorded at the City’s best estimate of
fair value on the date of contribution, calculated using engineering plans and standardized item cost estimates.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

n) Refundable deposits

Receipts restricted by third parties are deferred and reported as refundable deposits under certain
circumstances. Refundable deposits are returned when the third party meets their obligations, or the deposits
are recognized as revenue when qualifying expenditures are incurred.

o) Liability for contaminated sites

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amount required to
remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding an environmental standard exists, the City is
either directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given
up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount is determinable. The best estimate of the liability includes all
costs directly attributable to remediation activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based on
information available at December 31, 2023.

At each financial reporting date, the City reviews the carrying amount of the liability. Any revisions required to
the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period revisions are made. The City continues to
recognize the liability until it is settled or otherwise extinguished. Disbursements made to settle the liability are
deducted from the reported liability when they are made.
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

p) Inventory of Supplies
Inventory of supplies held for consumption is recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost, using the first
in, first out method.

r) Asset retirement obligation
An asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset that the
City will be required to settle. The City recognizes asset retirement obligations when there is a legal obligation to incur
retirements costs in relation to a tangible capital asset, the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has
occurred, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can
be made.

Asset retirement obligations are initially measured at the best estimate of the amount required to retire atangible capital
asset at the financial statement date. The estimate of a liability includes costs directly attributable to asset retirement
activities.

Asset retirement obligations are recorded as liabilities with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the
related tangible capital asset. Subsequently, the asset retirement costs are allocated to expenses over the useful life of
the tangible capital asset. The obligation is adjusted to reflect period-to-period changes in the liability resulting from the
passage of time and for revisions to either the timing or the amount of the original estimate of the undiscounted cash
flows or the discount rate.

q) Reserve accounts
Reserves for future expenditures are non-statutory reserves, which represent an allocation of revenue for specific
purposes.

s) Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost includes all costs directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, or interest from financing of the tangible capital asset. Contributed
tangible capital assets are recorded as revenue at fair value at the time of contribution.

The useful life is applied straight line to calculate amortization at the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Useful life - years

Land improvements 
Buildings, including building components
Machinery and equipment
Engineering structures
Storm systems
Transportation systems
Water systems
Sewer systems

10 to 20 years
25 to 40 years
5 to 30 years

30 to 75 years
45 to 75 years
15 to 60 years
8 to 75 years
8 to 75 years

Amortization is charged annually, including in the year of acquisition and disposal. Assets under construction
are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and are
recorded as revenue.The City has capitalized interest costs associated with the construction of tangible capital
assets, during the period of construction only.Natural resources that have not been purchased are not
recognized as assets in the financial statements.Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded
as assets in these financial statements.
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2. Change in Accounting Policy

a) Asset Retirement Obligations

        Effective January 1, 2023, the City adopted the Public Sector Accounting Board’s (PSAB) new standard for the
recognition, measurement, and disclosure of a liability for asset retirement obligations under PS 3280 Asset
Retirement Obligations. The new standard establishes when to recognize and how to measure a liability for an
asset retirement obligation and provides the related financial statement presentation and disclosure
requirements.

Under the new standard, a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized at the best estimate of the
amount required to retire a tangible capital asset when certain criteria are met.

The application of the new standard resulted in an asset retirement obligation being recorded in the financial
statements due to the presence of asbestos and a legal obligation to remove the asbestos. The new standard
has been applied prospectively to these consolidated financial statements.

b) Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2023, the City adopted the Public Sector Accounting Board’s (PSAB) new
recommendations for the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of financial assets, financial liabilities, and
derivatives under Section PS 3450 Financial Instruments. The new Section is applied prospectively, and prior
periods have not been restated. There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements from
the prospective application of the new accounting recommendations.

3. Investments

Investments include funds invested in Guaranteed Investment Certificates and Money Market Funds with
Raymond James, The Municipal Finance Authority of B.C, and Canaccord Genuity. The investments are
carried at market value which is equal to the carrying value. The investments have various maturity dates
between 90  and 365 days  with a range of interest rates between 4.00% and 5.90%.

4. Accounts Receivable

2023 2022

Property taxes $ 1,412,629 $ 1,032,844
Federal government 311,974 270,485
General 8,208,625 5,226,002

$ 9,933,228 $ 6,529,331

5. Investment in government business enterprise

The investment in the Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation (AVCFC) is reported as a government
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5. Investment in government business enterprise (continued)

business enterprise (GBE) and accounted for using the modified equity method. Under this method, the
government business’ accounting principles are not adjusted to conform with those of the City and inter-
corporate transactions are not eliminated. The City owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares.

In the prior and current year, the AVCFC financial statements were prepared under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The following table provides condensed supplementary financial information for
the corporation at December 31, 2023.

2023 2022

Financial Assets

$ 3,057,742 $ 3,371,404

Liabilities 644,399 621,446
Equity 2,413,343 2,749,958

3,057,742 3,371,404

Operations

Revenue 1,423,792 3,809,975
Expenses 1,460,407 1,969,135

Net (loss) income $ (36,615) $ 1,840,840

2023 2022

AVCFC shares $ 1 $ 1
Accumulated earnings to date 2,404,598 2,741,213

$ 2,404,599 $ 2,741,214

During the year the City received a dividend from AVCFC of $300,000 (2022  - $300,000)

6. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2023 2022

Other local governments $ 53,070 $ 1,393,922
Trade accounts 6,691,718 7,667,583
Salaries and wages 780,869 244,908
Accrued debenture interest 107,199 82,071
Accrued employee benefits 2,160,066 2,319,611

$ 9,792,922 $ 11,708,095

7. Employee future benefits

The City provides benefits for sick leave, vacation pay and certain retirement benefit arrangements to its
employees.
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a) Retirement benefit payments
The City provides retirement benefits to qualifying employees who cease employment with the City after a
specified length of service. Retirement benefits are estimated for individual employees as per the
appropriate collective agreement, based on estimated salary costs at the time of anticipated retirements,
and discounting expected pay-outs over estimated years of service.

2023 2022

Benefit liability – beginning of year $ 881,200 $ 765,800
Add: current service costs 100,000 97,600

Interest on accrued benefit obligations 26,300 26,500

Amortization of actuarial loss 14,100 14,100

Adjustments for change in discount rates 26,400 -
Less: Benefits paid (135,500) (135,500)

Benefit liability – end of year 912,500 768,500
Unamortized actuarial (loss) gain (2,900) 112,700

Accrued benefit obligation – end of year $ 909,600 $ 881,200

The retirement liability requires no contribution from the employees.

b) Accrued vacation liability

2023 2022

Accrued vacation payable - end of year $ 1,110,198 $ 1,160,211

c) Accumulated sick leave liability
The City provides benefits for sick leave to all its employees. Employees in the classification of CUPE and
Firefighter accumulate sick leave on a monthly basis and can only use this entitlement for paid time off
under certain circumstances. Sick leave is accumulated to a maximum as determined by the appropriate
collective agreement. Sick leave for management employees does not accumulate. At December 31, 2023,
this liability is estimated at $140,268  (2022 - $278,200).

d) Employee benefit obligations

Accrued Benefit Obligation assumptions were reviewed for the 2023 year end and updated based on current
market conditions. Accumulated sick leave liability is segragated from the accrued benefit obligation liability
for statement presentation.

2023 2022

Accrued benefit obligation $ 909,600 $ 881,200
Accrued vacation payable 1,110,198 1,160,211
Accumulated sick leave liability 140,268 278,200

Total employee benefit obligations $ 2,160,066 $ 2,319,611

7. Employee future benefits (continued)
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8. Deferred revenue

Capital grants are restricted to spending on capital project expenses. Other deferred revenue is not restricted.

2023 2022

Opening Balance $ 837,477 $ 579,177
Capital grants, receipts 5,791,771 1,364,796
Capital projects recognized into revenue (5,947,895) (1,106,526)

Capital grants, ending balance 681,353 837,447
Property taxes 2,126,976 1,993,570
Other 1,101,061 918,696
Development cost charges 3,246,595 3,177,801

$ 7,155,985 $ 6,927,514

Development cost charges (DCCs)

Opening Balances $ 3,177,801 $ 1,889,119
Add: DCCs received during the year (16,429) 1,258,272
Add: Interest 85,222 30,410

$ 3,246,594 $ 3,177,801

9. Community Building Fund

2023 2022

Federal Gas Tax Funds

Opening Balance $ 3,115,328 $ 3,812,050
Add: Funding received during the year 872,264 835,923
Less: Amount recognized as revenue (852,924) (1,573,570)
Add: Interest 103,058 40,925

$ 3,237,726 $ 3,115,328

Federal Gas Tax funding is provided by the Federal government. The use of funding is established by a
funding agreement between the City and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM). These funds
may be used towards designated infrastructure projects that help communities build and revitalize public
infrastructure supporting economic growth and a clean environment. These funds are held in the Community
Building Fund Reserve  (see Note 16).
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10. Financial Instruments
The City as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments. It is management’s position that the
City is not exposed to significant interest, currency, or credit risks arising from these financial instruments
unless otherwise disclosed.

11. Debt

Debt Reserve Fund

The Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District (ACRD) obtains long-term debt, on behalf of the City, through the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA), pursuant to security issuing bylaws under the authority of the Local
Government Act, to finance certain capital expenditures.
The MFA is required to establish a Debt Reserve Fund. Each regional district through its member
municipalities who share in the proceeds of a debt issue is required to pay into the Debt Reserve Fund certain
amounts set out in the debt agreements. The MFA pays into the Debt Reserve Fund these monies from which
interest earned thereon less administrative expenses becomes an obligation to the regional districts.
It must then use this fund, if at any time there are insufficient funds, to meet payments on its obligations. When
this occurs, the regional districts may be called upon to restore the fund.

The loan agreements with the ACRD and the MFA provide that, if at any time the scheduled payments
provided for in the agreements are not sufficient to meet the MFA’s obligations in respect to such borrowings,
the resulting deficiency becomes a liability of the City.

As a condition of the loan agreements, the City is obligated to provide security by way of demand notes and
interest- bearing cash deposits (sinking fund balances) based on the amount of the debt. If the debt is repaid
without default, the deposits are refunded to the City. The demand notes are held by the MFA and upon
maturity of the debt, the demand notes are released. As of December 31, 2023, there are contingent demand
notes of $430,810 (2022 - $258,452) that are not recorded in the City’s consolidated financial statements.

Long-term Debt

All debenture debt is owed to the MFA and is reported at gross amount. The City has no debt assumed by
others on its behalf and has assumed no debt for others. Debenture debt by Bylaw is detailed on Schedule 3.
Principal payments on long-term debt as of December 31, 2023,  for the next 5 years are as follows:

Long Term Debt
2024 526,214

2025 526,214

2026 526,214

2027 526,214

2028 526,214

Total $ 2,631,070
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11. Debt (continued)

Scheduled long-term debt repayments may be suspended in the event of excess sinking fund earnings within
the MFA. Principal paid during the year was $364,249 (2022 -  $364,249). Total interest expense during the
year was $553,132 (2022 - $376,757). Included in revenue is $132,296 (2022 - $115,769) of actuarial
adjustments on the City’s annual debt principal repayments invested by MFA. This annual investment income
results in a reduction in the overall cost of borrowing.

12. Asset Retirement Obligations

The City owns and operates twenty three tangible capital assets that are known to have asbestos and lead
paint, which  represent a health hazard upon demolition or renovation of the assets. There is a legal obligation
to remove and dispose of the hazardous materials. The City is also obligated under the Environmental
Management Act to decommission and restore waste water lagoons. Following the adoption of Public
Accounting Standard PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations, the City recognized an obligation relating to the
removal of the hazardous materials in assets and decommissioning and restoration of waste water lagoons as
estimated at January 1, 2023. The transition and recognition of asset retirement obligations involved an
accompanying increase to the buildings and waste water infrastructure tangible capital assets. The increase in
tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining expected useful life of the
related assets.
The City has adopted this standard prospectively. Under the prospective method, the discount rate and
assumptions used on initial recognition are those as of the date of adoption of the standard. Estimated costs
totaling $42,617,953 have been discounted using a present value calculation with a discount rate of 3.7%. The
timing of these expenditures is estimated to occur between 2023 and 2053 with the regular replacement,
renovation, or disposal of assets. No recoveries are expected at this time.

2023

$ -

41,097,936

Opening Asset Retirement Obligation
Initial Recognition of Expected Discounted Cashflows  
Increase due to acretion 1,520,017

Closing Asset Retirement Obligation $42,617,953
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13. Trust Funds

The City operates a cemetery and maintains a cemetery perpetual care fund in accordance with the
Cremation, Internment and Funeral Services Act. The trust fund assets and liabilities are not included in the
consolidated financial statements. As at December 31, 2023, the balance of funds held in trust was $153,915
(2022 - $147,824).

14. Municipal Pension Plan

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The
board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan,
including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at  December 31, 2023, the plan has about
240,000 active members and approximately 124,000 retired members. Active members include approximately
43,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy
of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to
fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which
produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average
future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and
will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a
$3,761,000 funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The City of Port Alberni paid $1,405,041 (2022 - $1,284,120) for employer contributions while employees
contributed $1,228,428 (2022 - $1,125,857) to the plan in fiscal 2023.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan
records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan.
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14. Tangible capital assets

Tangible Capital Assets are stated at their net book value.

2023 2022

Land $ 10,282,996 $ 10,083,413
Land improvements 4,194,702 4,423,954
Buildings 18,192,201 16,220,457
Machinery and equipment 7,032,128 6,615,726
Engineering structures 2,897,147 2,937,959
Storm Drains 16,551,437 16,224,163
Transportation 8,084,425 7,315,290
Water 25,585,483 24,060,860
Sewer 96,002,396 57,179,718
Leased asset 68,889 68,889

188,891,804 145,130,429
Work-in-progress: Assets under construction not being

amortized 11,855,487 7,266,056

$ 200,747,291 $ 152,396,485

For more information on additions, disposals, and amortization, refer to Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets 
(Schedule 1).

No interest was capitalized in 2023 (2022 - $206,695). No amortization has been recorded on work in progress 
assets not in use in 2023.
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16. Accumulated surplus

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserve funds as follows:

2023 2022

Operations

General $ 9,466,863 $ (21,169,540)

Water 224,039 988,991

Sewer (8,735,370) (2,873,658)

$ 955,532 $ (23,054,207)

Capital

General 20,769,750 26,772,224

Water 3,352,967 (1,547,744)

Sewer (30,923,439) (11,101,368)

(6,800,722) 14,123,112

$ 74,384,988 $ 64,848,543

23,908,241 23,045,696

Equity in tangible capital assets 
General

Water

Sewer 38,832,817 51,502,409

$ 137,126,046 $ 139,396,648

Reserves

Reserve funds – statutory

$ 314,284 $ 300,029Parkland acquisition 
Land Sale 991,722 90,937

1,306,006 390,966

Reserve funds – restricted

6,622,669 6,127,642

549,410 352,066

2,650,919 2,511,996

289,505 264,306

3,237,726 3,115,328

5,396,338 -

61,688 -

Equipment replacement

Carbon fund

Parks and recreation capital

Capital works

Community Building Fund Reserve (Note 9) 
Growing Communities Fund

Aquatic Centre Reserve Fund

Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation reserve 906,152 598,452

19,714,407 12,969,790

Reserve funds – unrestricted

2,357,710 2,789,066

61,631 62,968

1,040,231 1,149,326

334,300 334,300

5,402,014 8,878,370

General fund - project and purchases 
Museum purchases

RCMP - contract surplus

McLean Mill project

Water fund - projects and purchases 
Sewer fund - projects and purchases 6,349,809 3,189,802

15,545,695 16,403,832

Total reserves 36,566,108 29,764,588

$ 167,846,964 $ 160,230,144
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16. Accumulated surplus (continued)

a) Accumulated Surplus - Safe Restart Grant
The COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant for Local Governments was provided to local governments to assist with the 
increased operating costs and revenue short-falls as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 Safe 
Restart Grant may be used towards specific eligible costs for funding such as addressing revenue short-falls, 
facility reopening and operating costs, emergency planning and response costs, bylaw enforcement and 
protective services, computer and other technology costs, and services for vulnerable persons.
The City of Port Alberni received $3,536,000 in COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant and reports the balance in the 
General fund – projects and purchases reserve.

2023 2022

Opening balance $ 139,529 $ 721,385
Deductions:

Parks and recreation revenue shortfall - (500,000)
Technical upgrading and imporvements (139,529) (81,856)

Closing balance of unspent funds $ - $ 139,529

b) Growing Communities Fund

The Province of British Columbia distributed conditional GCF grants to communities at the end of March 2023
to help local governments build community infrastructure and amenities to meet the demands of population
growth. The GCF provided a one-time total of $1 billion in grants to all 161 municipalities and 27 regional
districts in British Columbia.

The City of Port Alberni  received $5,269,000 of GCF funding in March 2023. No grant proceeds were spent in
the 2023 year. 

2023 2022

Growing Communities opening balance $ - $ -
Funds received 5,269,000 -
Interest Earned 127,338 -
Eligible expenses - -

Closing balance of unspent funds $ 5,396,338 $ -
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17. Grants and Transfers

2023 2022

Operating Grants

Federal $ 83,290 $ -

Provincial 1,662,388 1,810,601

Total Government Operating Grants 1,745,678 1,810,601

Local 10,500 8,978

Capital

Federal 10,891,508 1,058,954

Federal/Provincial 1,690,000 1,106,525

12,581,508 2,165,479

Total Government Grants and Transfers 14,337,686 3,985,058
Other Grants - Non Governmental 8,530 4,750

Total Grants and Transfers $ 14,346,216 $ 3,989,808

18. Commitments and Contingencies

a) Regional District Debt
Debt issued by the Regional District of Alberni Clayoquot is a direct joint and several liability of the District
and each member municipality including the City.

b) Claims for damages
In the normal course of a year, the City is faced with lawsuits and other claims for damages of a diverse
nature. At year end, the City’s estimated exposure for such liabilities is not considered to be significant. The
City carried general liability insurance with a private insurance carrier in the amount of $5 million, plus an
umbrella policy in the amount of $45 million. When claims are paid the expense is charge to the General
Government expense category.

c) Commitments
The City entered into a long-term contract with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police for the provision of
police services effective April 1, 2012. Under the terms of this contract, the City is responsible for 90% of
policing costs. The 2024 estimated cost of this contract is $7,287,407 (2025 - $7,622,452).

19. Budget

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements includes both operating and capital
budgets. The City of Port Alberni budget was approved by Council on April 27, 2023, with the adoption of the
Five-Year Financial Plan (2023-2027) Bylaw No 5075, 2023. The chart below reconciles the approved budget
per the Financial Plan to the budget reported in these consolidated financial statements.
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19. Budget (continued)

2023 BudgetConsolidated Budgeted Surplus, per City of Port Alberni Financial Plan  Bylaw No. 5075
$ -Add

16,572,386
100,000

Acquisition of TCA Contingency 
Contingency
Debt repayments
Transfers to reserves 

371,426

Less
Transfers from Surplus 8,428,688

Consolidated Budgeted Surplus, per City of Port Alberni Statement of Operations $ 8,615,124

20. Segmented information

The City of Port Alberni provides a wide range of services to its citizens including police, fire, recreation, roads,
sewer and water. For reporting purposes, the City's operations and activities are organized and reported by
Fund as described in Note 1. Funds were created for the purpose of recording specific activities to attain
certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations.

City services are provided by departments and their activities are reported in these funds. Certain departments
that have been separately disclosed in the segmented information, along with the services they provide are as
follows:

General government services

General government provides internal support services to Council and other departments who provide direct
services to its citizens. General government consists of governance, corporate management and program
support. Internal departments include Legislative (Council), Chief Administrator's Office, Corporate Services
Department, Financial Services, Information Technology, and Human Resources.

Protective services - Police, Fire, and Building Inspection

The Royal Canadian Mounted Police is Canada's national police service. They are committed to preserving the
peace, upholding the law and providing quality service in partnership with Canadian communities and for all
Canadian citizens. The mandate of the Port Alberni Fire Department is to provide fire suppression services; fire
prevention programs; training and education related to prevention, detection or extinguishment of fires. It is the
mandate of the Building Inspection Department to provide building inspection services as set out in the building
bylaw for residents and builders. Building inspection services are provided in order to assist residents and
builders in constructing projects which meet minimum construction standards.

Transportation services

The Public Works Department is responsible for the delivery of municipal public works services related to the
planning, development and maintenance of roadway systems, traffic control and street lighting.

-

27REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - JUNE 24, 2024 253



CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

20. Segmented information (continued)

Environmental health services

The function of environmental health services is to provide for the collection and disposal of solid waste as well
as providing cemetery services to the citizens of Port Alberni.

Environmental and economic development

Environmental development provides services relating to planning, economic development and tourism. The
Planning Department develops and administers land use regulations to ensure an orderly and well-planned
community. Economic Development includes responsibilities for diversification of the economy through
business retention, business attraction and marketing key properties owned by the City.

Recreation and cultural services

The mission of the Parks, Recreation and Heritage Department is to enrich the quality of life of residents and
visitors. The parks, facilities, programs and services are designed and delivered to provide the greatest benefit
to the community as a whole. The Museum Department works with the community to collect, document,
preserve and present all aspects of the cultural heritage of the Alberni Valley and West Coast of Vancouver
Island. Cultural services also contribute towards the information needs of citizens through the provision of
library services in partnership with the Vancouver Island Regional Library.

Water utility

The Water Department provides for the supply and treatment of safe drinking water to the citizens of Port
Alberni.

Sewer utility

The Sewer Department provides for the collection and treatment of wastewater. The accounting policies used
in these segments are consistent with those followed in preparation of the consolidated financial statements as
disclosed in (Note 1). For additional information see Segmented Information (Schedule 2).

21. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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ASSETS ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Balance
December 31,

2022
Additions

2023
Disposals

2023

Balance
December 31,

2023

Balance
December 31,

2022
Additions

2023
 Disposals

2023

Balance
December 31,

2023

NET BOOK
VALUE

2023

NET BOOK
VALUE

2022

Land $ 10,083,413 $ 199,584 $ - $ 10,282,997 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 10,282,996 $ 10,083,413
Land Improvements 13,000,317 180,805 (41,936) 13,139,186 8,576,363 368,123 - 8,944,486 4,194,702 4,423,954
Buildings 37,978,677 3,154,634 - 41,133,311 21,758,220 1,182,892 - 22,941,112 18,192,201 16,220,457
Machinery & Equipment 17,551,532 1,234,419 (251,803) 18,534,148 10,935,806 753,014 (186,803) 11,502,017 7,032,129 6,615,726
Engineered Structures 4,271,879 - - 4,271,879 1,333,920 40,812 - 1,374,732 2,897,147 2,937,959
Storm Drains 25,614,521 684,486 (3,196) 26,295,811 9,390,358 356,829 (2,812) 9,744,375 16,551,437 16,224,163
Transportation 44,738,938 1,553,852 - 46,292,790 37,423,648 808,481 (23,763) 38,208,366 8,084,425 7,315,290
Water 42,573,975 2,324,381 (41,106) 44,857,250 18,513,115 786,606 (27,952) 19,271,769 25,585,481 24,060,860
Sewer 69,779,879 43,608,871 - 113,388,750 12,600,161 4,786,202 - 17,386,363 96,002,397 57,179,718
Lease Assets 1,425,000 - - 1,425,000 1,356,111 - - 1,356,111 68,889 68,889
Work in progress 7,266,055 4,589,431 - 11,855,486 - - - - 11,855,487 7,266,056

$ 274,284,186 $ 57,530,463 $ (338,041) $ 331,476,608 $ 121,887,702 $ 9,082,959 $ (241,330) $ 130,729,331 $ 200,747,291 $ 152,396,485
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 2: SEGMENTED INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

General
government

services
Protective
services

Transportation
services

Environmental
health services

Environmental
and economic
development

Recreation and
cultural services Water utility Sewer utility Other

Consolidated
2023

Budget
(Note 19)

Consolidated
2022

Revenues

Taxation $ 27,873,962 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 27,873,962 $28,792,070 $ 25,801,595

Sale of services 59,918 374,418 415,227 1,748,651 874,933 1,971,980 4,150,373 3,287,104 1,007,237 13,889,841 11,217,673 12,702,238

Other revenue from own sources 533,983 344,647 - 16,729 163,230 - 38,089 32,662 132,296 1,261,637 1,498,057 1,325,297

Investment income 1,007,677 - 7,018 - - - 208,696 231,387 327,281 1,782,059 450,000 623,066

Grants and transfers 11,354,201 - 8,530 - 263,489 1,029,995 - 1,680,000 10,000 14,346,216 6,069,314 3,989,808

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - (96,709) (96,709) - (121,662)

(Loss) income from investment in government business (36,615) - - - - - - - - (36,615) - 1,840,840

Total Revenues 40,793,126 719,065 430,775 1,765,380 1,301,652 3,001,975 4,397,158 5,231,153 1,380,105 59,020,392 48,027,114 46,161,182

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 2,727,180 6,585,916 2,735,788 402,563 853,828 4,975,747 685,522 447,701 - 19,414,391 19,763,554 17,187,875

Debt Servicing 81,988 83,777 - - - 21,372 139,094 541,035 - 867,266 580,082 217,452

RCMP Contract - 7,035,396 - - - - - - - 7,035,396 6,730,009 6,043,880

Grants - 5,833 - - 253,163 74,362 - - - 333,358 203,500 539,612

Other Contracts 98,889 - 1,078,530 - 35,654 - - - - 1,213,073 2,294,826 1,220,073

Goods and services 1,505,717 999,499 2,589,875 932,957 390,162 2,845,137 1,231,547 1,442,364 - 11,937,258 9,840,019 11,692,369

4,413,774 14,710,421 6,404,193 1,335,520 1,532,807 7,916,618 2,056,163 2,431,100 - 40,800,596 39,411,990 36,901,261

Amortization 287,493 355,928 1,607,151 2,183 56,591 1,200,802 786,606 4,786,202 - 9,082,956 - 5,615,586

Accretion 21,343 7,576 991 - 427 50,533 949 1,438,198 - 1,520,017 - -

Total expenses 4,722,610 15,073,926 8,012,334 1,337,703 1,589,825 9,167,951 2,843,718 8,655,501 - 51,403,571 39,411,990 42,516,845

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 36,070,516 $(14,354,860) $(7,581,560) $ 427,677 $ (288,173) $ (6,165,978) $ 1,553,440 $(3,424,347) $1,380,105 $ 7,616,820 $ 8,615,124 $ 3,644,337
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 2: SEGMENTED INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

General
government

services Protective services
Transportation

services
Environmental
health services

Environmental and
economic

development
Recreation and

cultural services Water utility Sewer utility Other
Consolidated

2022
Budget Consolidated

2021

Revenues

Taxation $ 25,801,595 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 25,801,595 $25,807,573 $24,818,992

Sale of services 82,540 428,627 416,047 1,586,522 338,160 1,614,925 3,900,749 3,152,799 1,181,869 12,702,238 10,895,776 11,318,533

Other revenue from own sources 445,414 526,410 - 14,349 153,874 - 37,038 32,442 115,769 1,325,297 1,215,805 1,230,103

Investment income 351,436 - 1,226 - - - 89,721 18,089 162,594 623,066 280,000 257,138

Grants and transfers 2,385,660 - 4,750 - 254,580 508,895 - - 835,923 3,989,808 1,289,287 3,722,439

Recognition of development cost charges - - - - - - - - - - - 165,907

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - (121,662) (121,662) - (145,806)

Income (loss) from investment in government
business - - - - 1,840,840 - - - - 1,840,840 - (11,949)

Total Revenues 29,066,645 955,037 422,023 1,600,871 2,587,454 2,123,820 4,027,508 3,203,330 2,174,493 46,161,182 39,488,441 41,355,358

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 2,318,961 5,229,450 2,760,520 540,949 868,850 4,173,946 788,985 506,214 - 17,187,875 18,983,031 17,141,118

Debt Servicing 21,501 81,287 - - - 22,488 44,518 47,658 - 217,452 505,170 192,007

RCMP Contract - 6,043,880 - - - - - - - 6,043,880 6,053,092 6,683,045

Grants 21,000 235,599 - - 283,013 - - - - 539,612 238,500 332,709

Other Contracts 170,376 - 998,778 - 50,920 - - - - 1,220,074 1,323,539 1,060,218

Goods and services 2,228,907 1,803,729 1,182,894 875,964 638,024 2,618,590 1,095,397 1,247,291 1,573 11,692,369 8,427,873 8,364,424

4,760,745 13,393,945 4,942,192 1,416,913 1,840,807 6,815,024 1,928,900 1,801,163 1,573 36,901,262 35,531,205 33,733,521

Amortization 181,790 347,286 1,647,633 2,183 69,332 1,095,231 907,908 1,364,222 - 5,615,585 - 4,598,806

Total expenses 4,942,535 13,741,231 6,589,825 1,419,096 1,910,139 7,910,255 2,836,808 3,165,385 1,573 42,516,845 35,531,205 38,372,327

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 24,124,110 $ (12,786,194) $ (6,167,802) $ 181,775 $ 677,315 $ (5,786,435) $ 1,190,700 $ 37,945 $ 2,172,920 $ 3,644,337 $ 3,957,237 $ 2,983,031
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 3: DEBT
As at December 31, 2023

Security
Issuing
Bylaw Purpose

Term in
Years

Annual
Interest

Rate
Maturity

Date
Original
Issue

Balance
Dec 31, 2022

Principal
Paid

Actuarial
Recognized

Balance
Dec 31,
2023

Debt
Reserve

Cash
Dec 31,
2022

Debt
Reserve
Income &
Expenses

Debt
Reserve

Cash
Balance
Dec 31,

2023

4575 General 25 1.75% 19-Apr-31 $ 3,375,064 $ 1,606,362 $ 81,042 $ 70,748 $ 1,454,572 $ 55,222 $ 1,716 $ 56,938

4807 General 30 3.00% 14-Oct-44 428,300 145,861 7,638 2,815 135,408 5,125 336 5,461

4846 General 20 -% 08-Apr-35 912,000 661,121 32,249 8,781 620,091 10,810 160 10,970

4,715,364 - 120,929 82,344 2,210,071 71,157 2,212 73,369

4848 Water 30 -% 08-Apr-45 2,000,000 1,698,605 38,743 10,549 1,649,313 23,705 737 24,442

4807 Waste Water 30 3.00% 14-Oct-44 5,321,700 4,659,467 94,885 34,972 4,529,610 63,919 1,986 65,905

4939 Waste Water 30 1.45% 09-Apr-50 4,450,000 4,228,422 109,692 4,432 4,114,298 46,941 1,459 48,400

5038 Waste Water 30 4.15% 05-Jun-53 8,500,000 - - - 8,500,000 - 86,646 86,646

18,271,700 8,887,889 204,577 39,404 17,143,908 110,860 90,091 200,951

$24,987,064 $ 12,999,838 $ 364,249 $ 132,297 $ 21,003,292 $ 205,722 $ 93,040 $ 298,762
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 4: TAX LEVIES AND GRANTS IN LIEU OF TAXES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Tax Levies

General Purpose $ 26,845,136 $ 26,745,407 $ 24,788,520
Off-Street Parking 18,000 18,000 12,882
Utility 786,028 852,834 775,362

27,649,164 27,616,241 25,576,764

Grants in lieu of taxes 229,245 257,721 224,831

Total Municipal Taxes 27,878,409 27,873,962 25,801,595

Collections For Other Governments

School Districts 6,251,695 7,017,775 6,637,778
Alberni Clayoquot Regional Hospital District 682,652 682,652 695,873
Alberni Clayoquot Regional District 1,770,580 1,770,580 1,595,707
B.C. Assessment 190,000 214,261 210,693
Vancouver Island Regional Library 913,661 913,661 839,444
Municipal Finance Authority 700 - 960

9,809,288 10,598,929 9,980,455

Total Taxes Collected $ 37,687,697 $ 38,472,891 $ 35,782,050
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SCHEDULE SHOWING THE REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES PAID TO OR ON BEHALF OF EACH EMPLOYEE

1. Elected Officials, Employees appointed by Cabinet and Members of the Board of Directors

Name Position  Remuneration 
 Taxable Benefits 

& Other  Expenses 
DAME, DUSTIN Elected Official 28,786.71$           95.16$  5,667.33$             
DOUGLAS,JOHN Elected Official 28,786.71$           48.07$  5,180.31$             
HAGGARD, DEBBIE Elected Official 28,786.71$           47.76$  8,066.87$             
MEALEY,CHARLES Elected Official 28,786.71$           95.16$  1,148.57$             
MINIONS, SHARIE Elected Official 64,689.87$           95.16$  12,934.26$           
PATOLA, TODD Elected Official 28,786.71$           95.16$  13,118.97$           
SOLDA, CINDY Elected Official 28,786.71$           83.31$  7,089.37$             

237,410.13$         559.78$  53,205.68$           

2. Other employees (excluding those listed in Part 1 above)

Name Position  Remuneration 
 Taxable Benefits 

& Other Expenses
ANDERSEN, DOUGLAS Water System - Meters & Cross Connection  $          80,567.94  $ 580.40 109.00$  
ANDERSON, J. DREW Backhoe Operator  $          75,044.50  $ 580.40 -$  
ARENTSEN, KEITH LAN Administrator/Systems Operator  $          85,970.74  $ 580.40 117.49$  
BAUER, BRYAN Wastewater Systems Operator  $          75,340.66  $ 580.40 1,223.37$             
BERKE, KARRY Sewer Chargehand  $          91,957.66  $ 580.40 -$  
BISHOP, JUSTIN Wastewater Systems Operator  $          80,777.49  $ 580.40 161.50$  
BITTER, PETER Accountant  $          76,404.80  $ 580.40 525.00$  
BODIN, KRISTA Manager of Human Resources  $        146,428.80  $            1,193.75 1,738.68$             
BOOTH, ANTHONY Fire Fighter  $        136,176.28  $ 827.19 -$  
BOROVICA, ERWIN Project Manager  $          80,442.06  $ 684.72 2,306.96$             
BOUCHARD, TORY Superintendent - Fleet & Solid Waste  $        107,374.93  $            2,059.42 837.75$  
BOURELLE, NATHAN Bylaw Enforcement Officer  $          74,524.11  $ 580.40 80.00$  
BOURGOIN, SHAWN Manager of Recreation Services  $        102,224.83  $ 836.61 2,573.86$             
BRITTON, SHAYLA Stores Clerk  $          79,031.32  $ 580.40 148.07$  
BRUVALL, ERIC Engineering Technologist  $          78,957.62  $ 580.40 -$  
BURROWS, SCOTT Fire Captain  $        164,008.71  $ 996.60 -$  
COLCLOUGH, BRANDON Water System Technician  $          87,684.76  $ 825.65 -$  
COX, AARON Firefighter  $        110,227.72  $ 701.85 6,277.14$             
CROSS, TRAVIS Firefighter  $        145,549.86  $            1,006.12 1,017.32$             
CUSSON, DAVID Manager of Community Policing  $          94,645.61  $ 766.77 -$  
DARLING, SARA Deputy Director of Corporate Services  $        105,707.74  $ 865.77 3,008.10$             
DEAKIN, PATRICK Manager of Economic Development  $        116,341.92 2,695.87$             
DECARY, BEN Water System Technician  $          76,497.81  $ 580.40 -$  
DICKINSON, ROBERT Director of Engineering and Public Works  $          89,389.02  $ 606.76 1,204.11$             
EHALT, COREY Firefighter  $        108,616.37  $ 681.24 -$  
ETHIER, SARAH CPIC Operator  $          77,481.89  $ 190.95 1,274.11$             
FINES, DERRIN Firefighter  $        149,466.80  $ 996.60 1,627.23$             
FOURNIER, SCOTT Mechanic  $          79,740.72  $ 680.40 -$  
FOX, MICHAEL Chief Administrative Officer  $        141,960.85  $            1,184.06 9,234.74$             
FRANCOEUR, LOUISE Backhoe Operator  $          77,950.33  $ 580.40 -$  
FUDGE, NORMAN Mechanic  $          80,146.99  $ 680.40 -$  
GAGNON, MICHELLE Administration Clerk - RCMP  $          78,542.53  $ 580.40 -$  
GAUDET, KEVIN Water System Technician  $          80,363.56  $ 580.40 -$  
GAUDREAULT, ROBERT Building Inspector  $          96,699.88  $ 580.40 2,830.88$             
GINGRAS, JEFFERY Traffic Services  $          75,156.86  $ 580.40 -$  
GIRI, AMARJEET Waterworks Chargehand  $          95,433.43  $ 580.40 109.00$  
GUERIN, ANDRE Firefighter  $        169,499.30  $ 996.60 5,511.67$             
HALEY, JOHN Firefighter  $        187,471.70  $ 996.60 148.07$  
HALYCHUK, BENJAMIN Firefighter  $        145,616.55  $ 840.72 -$  
HARDING, SHELLY Museum Curator  $          81,294.02  $ 580.40 249.95$  
HEIMAN, DAVID Streets Chargehand  $          86,244.71  $ 580.40 -$  
HILTUNEN, CRYSTAL Superintendent - Streets & Drainage  $          90,153.75  $ 678.01 1,586.61$             
IVEZICH, KIMBERLY Manager of Police Support Services  $          85,869.35  $ 705.94 547.82$  
JOSEPH, MARVIN Senior Maintenance Worker  $          94,177.38  $ 580.40 1,858.98$             
JUNGENKRUEGER, RODNEY Residential Garbage Collector  $          77,643.56  $ 580.40 -$  
KLEYWEGT,BRIAN Software Analyst  $          77,211.17  $ 580.40 -$  
KRANEVELDT, ROBERT Facilities Operations Supervisor  $        112,980.38  $ 917.47 438.00$  
LANDSVIK, ERIK Gardener  $          80,531.71  $ 580.40 17.14$  
LEPINE, TREVOR Wastewater Treatment Plant Technician  $          80,388.97  $ 580.40 175.00$  
LEYENAAR, CURTIS Chargehand - Parks  $          84,373.76  $ 580.40 -$  

Total: elected officials, employees appointed
by Cabinet and members of the Board of Directors    ( A )

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 6(2), (3), (4), (5) and (6)
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SCHEDULE SHOWING THE REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES PAID TO OR ON BEHALF OF EACH EMPLOYEE

Name Position  Remuneration 
 Taxable Benefits 

& Other Expenses
LOW, CAILEAN Firefighter  $        145,696.42  $ 863.52 10,925.76$           
MACAULEY, ROSALYN Deputy Director of Finance  $        116,271.40  $ 946.24 5,197.28$             
MCCOOMBS, GERALD Truck Driver  $          78,300.03  $ 580.40 -$  
MCCULLOUGH, ANTHONY Gardener  $          79,806.92  $ 580.40 1,690.32$             
MCGIFFORD, ANDREW Director of Finance  $        158,025.16  $            1,279.16 6,559.90$             
MCHALE, CONSTANTINE Facilities Maintenance Technician  $          80,525.44  $ 580.40 -$  
MCLOUGHLIN, BRIAN Manager of Planning  $          90,824.12  $ 619.42 2,093.33$             
MIGUEZ, JOHN Firefighter  $        147,336.27  $ 840.72 -$  
MONTEITH, DONNA Director of Corporate Services  $          83,459.94  $ 713.26 2,513.23$             
NELSON, KIMBERLY Custodial Guard  $          75,114.56  $ 580.40 -$  
OWENS, MICHAEL Fire Chief  $        154,611.05  $            1,177.77 7,052.72$             
PATTERSON, CHARLES W Deputy Fire Chief  $        112,769.92  $ 758.94 
PELECH, JEFF Manager of Information Technology  $        122,159.21  $ 999.55 6,518.04$             
POVEY, BRIAN Wastewater Systems Operator  $          80,747.86  $ 580.40 161.50$  
RITCHIE, IAN Firefighter  $        166,973.45  $ 996.60 -$  
RITCHIE, MAX Firefighter  $        100,614.95  $ 705.02 148.07$  
ROBERTS, JASON Firefighter  $        131,520.07  $ 813.96 148.07$  
ROGERS, BRADLEY Firefighter  $        137,438.55  $ 840.72 -$  
ROKEBY-THOMAS, DAVID Building Inspector  $          77,534.97  $ 453.60 -$  
ROSE, BRENT Firefighter  $        133,983.50  $ 813.96 -$  
RUEL, TYLER Firefighter  $        133,424.64  $ 791.28 -$  
SCHUTT, WESLEY Maintenance Co-or. Multiplex Operations  $          80,934.24  $ 580.40 -$  
SCHWARZ, MIKI Aquatics Programmer  $          75,577.89  $ 580.40 1,377.18$             
SELVA, ANTHONY Firefighter  $        132,658.02  $ 813.96 -$  
SEXTON, RYAN Carpenter  $          78,326.75  $ 680.40 -$  
SMITH, KIRSTEN Collections Curator  $          75,259.10  $ 580.40 840.60$  
SMITH, SCOTT Director of Development Services/Deputy CAO  $        166,915.33  $            1,360.30 1,626.40$             
STELMACKER, JAMES Mechanic  $          80,989.24  $ 680.40 -$  
STEPHEN, JOHN Water System Technician  $          95,947.02  $            3,296.15 1,866.75$             
THORPE, WILLA Director of Parks, Recreation & Heritage  $        157,770.50  $            1,279.16 17,156.49$           
TOURANGEAU, BRENNAN Firefighter  $        127,848.14  $ 813.96 847.97$  
TURNER, RYAN Firefighter  $        126,343.98  $ 780.37 -$  
WEENING, FRANK Custodial Guard  $          78,271.85  $ 200.00 -$  
WEILER, MARK Carpenter  $          80,300.96  $ 680.40 -$  
WETMORE, DANIEL Engineering Technologist  $          84,685.41  $ 580.40 -$  
WIATR, ROMAN Water System Technician  $          79,045.59  $ 348.70 -$  
WONG, S. BOYD Engineering Technologist  $        103,554.90  $ 317.00 -$  
WRIGHT, CLINTON Manager of Operations  $        131,517.39  $            1,839.88 7,307.87$             
ZAPLOTINSKY, BLADON Firefighter  $        136,285.70  $ 840.72 148.07$  
Consolidated total of other employees with
remuneration and expenses of $75,000 or less 6,924,172.69$      41,320.51$           54,314.18$           
Total:  Other Employees ( B ) 16,179,836.54$    109,519.43$         178,127.15$         

3. Reconciliation
Total remuneration - elected officials, employees appointed
by cabinet and members of the Board of Directors           ( A )
Total remuneration - other employees ( B )

Total per Statement of Revenue and Expenditure

NOTE 1

A formal reconciliation of the figures cannot be presented due to the functional reporting of expenditures.

The variance is due to the following reasons:
- the financial statement reports benefits as a percentage of salaries and wages whereas remuneration

is the amount paid directly to the employee as defined in the Financial Information Regulation,
Schedule 1, subsection 6(1).

Variance Note 1

237,969.91$  
16,289,355.97$  
16,527,325.88$  

19,414,391.00$  
 $ (2,887,065.12)

Subtotal
Reconciling Items

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 6(2), (3), (4), (5) and (6)
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There were zero (0) severance agreements under which payment commenced between the City 
of Alberni and its non-unionized employee during fiscal year 2023.

This statement is prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1,
Subsection 6(7).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI

STATEMENT OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7)
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1. Alphabetical list of suppliers who received aggregate payments exceeding $25,000

Supplier Name
 Aggregate Amount Paid To 

Supplier 
0946982 BC LTD DBA ACE FLAGGING 99,276.81 
1228529 BC LTD 32,144.38 
1278881 BC LTD 36,247.75 
3D GEOMATICS INC 37,267.93 
A BATT ABOVE INSULATION LTD 47,018.83 
A C E COURIER SERVICES 33,892.16 
ACCENT REFRIGERATION SYSTEMS 72,773.21 
ACKLANDS - GRAINGER INC 32,418.09 
ADDY POWER LTD 85,511.51 
ADELHARDT CONCRETE PLUS 32,392.50 
ALBERNI CHRYSLER LTD. 62,385.83 
ALBERNI CLAYOQUOT REGIONAL HOSPITAL DIST. 705,913.93 
ALBERNI PAVING & CONTRACTING LTD 205,414.50 
ALBERNI VALLEY BULLDOGS 43,161.00 
ALBERNI VALLEY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 259,568.05 
ALBERNI VALLEY CURLING CLUB 40,000.00 
ALBERNI VALLEY REFRIGERATION 115,394.89 
AMERICAN PROCESS GROUP 356,496.35 
ANDREW SHERET LIMITED 328,609.65 
ANOVA 87,747.94 
ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING (BC) LTD 208,890.21 
ATHECON PROJECTS INC 257,402.51 
AURORA ROOFING LTD 65,849.70 
B C ASSESSMENT AUTHORITY 216,353.68 
B C HYDRO & POWER AUTHORITY 905,215.12 
B C TRANSIT 1,016,254.81 
B PLETTI CONTRACTING, INC. 63,869.70 
BAILEY ELECTRIC CO LTD 392,626.39 
BASRA, TEJ 168,267.99 
BC EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX 232,353.11 
BC HYDRO 27,076.08 
BEAVER CREEK HOME CENTRE 41,848.17 
BERK'S INTERTRUCK LTD 50,746.00 
BERRY & VALE CONTRACTING LTD 963,413.08 
BIG STEEL BOX CORPORATION 26,924.80 
BLACK PRESS GROUP 30,742.06 
BOULDER EXCAVATING LTD 177,052.71 
BOWERMAN CONSTRUCTION LTD 2,523,904.25 
BRANDT TRACTOR LTD. 26,763.12 
BRENNTAG CANADA INC. 70,668.68 
BUNZL 57,009.35 
BUTLER CONCRETE & AGGREGATE LTD 48,872.41 
CANADIAN TIRE #488 27,260.31 
CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 198,986.35 
CARLISLE SERVICES LTD 47,008.92 
CATALYST PAPER CORP 130,445.61 
CDW CANADA 32,423.52 
CENTRAL SQUARE 56,574.40 
CIRCLE DAIRY 1987  LTD 124,422.72 
CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 109,270.53 
COASTAL BRIDGE & CONSTRUCTION LTD 95,663.91 
COASTAL RESTORATION SOCIETY 415,751.70 
COLLINS ELECTRIC INC 251,926.45 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 7
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Supplier Name
 Aggregate Amount Paid To 

Supplier 
COMMUNITY FUTURES DEVELOPMENT CORP 32,170.00 
CO-OPERATORS,  THE 196,771.52 
CULLEN DIESEL POWER LTD 38,057.12 
DAST WELDING INC 40,127.21 
DB PERKS & ASSOCIATES LTD. 92,479.81 
DOLANS CONCRETE LTD 118,871.20 
DOLANS GASFITTING & HEATING LTD 49,067.26 
DRIVING FORCE 119,818.42 
DUNCAN ELECTRIC MOTOR LTD 61,872.66 
DYSON, RUSSELL & JENNIFER 53,700.00 
Ekistics Town Planning Inc 54,031.08 
ENCORE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS INC 67,034.99 
ENEX FUELS LTD. 424,498.79 
F H BLACK & COMPANY INCORPORATED 27,951.78 
FALCON EQUIPMENT 114,893.63 
FLOORING DEPOT 55,240.02 
FOOTPRINTS SECURITY PATROL INC 97,872.07 
FORTIS BC - NATURAL GAS 181,780.85 
FRANK PLANNING COLLABORATIVE 123,665.14 
FRASER VALLEY REFRIGERATION 148,097.62 
FRED SURRIDGE LTD 78,398.36 
GREGG DISTRIBUTORS (BC) LTD 54,840.82 
GRT ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LTD 29,867.13 
HARBOUR HAZMAT INC 179,287.50 
HAYLOCK BROS PAVING LTD 43,506.27 
HUB CITY PAVING LTD 373,623.41 
I C B C -Insurance Corporation of British Columbia 76,245.00 
IAM ISLAND ARCHITECTURAL MILLWORK LTD 152,523.00 
INDUSTRA CONSTRUCTION CORP 972,913.80 
ISLAND SPORTS TURF 156,378.42 
ISLAND TIMBERFRAME 120,571.74 
ISLAND TIMBERLAND LTD PARTNERSHIP 29,961.25 
ITBLUEPRINT 56,090.70 
ITEL NETWORKS INC 57,513.70 
IWC EXCAVATION LTD 143,182.52 
JACK'S TIRE SALES & SERVICES LTD 62,935.22 
JAMIESON, MICHELE 270,241.42 
JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL 173,744.62 
KENDRICK EQUIPMENT 2003 LTD. 25,711.66 
KICKING HORSE CONSULTING 25,115.60 
KOERS & ASSOCIATES ENGINEERING LTD 590,302.72 
L B WOODCHOPPERS LTD 49,249.13 
LAFARGE ASPHALT TECHNOLOGIES 74,652.73 
LAFRENTZ ROAD MARKING 73,853.09 
LEUCO CONSTRUCTION INC 448,277.28 
LEWKOWICH ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES LTD 28,458.51 
LONG VIEW SYSTEMS CORPORATION 94,619.54 
M B LABORATORIES LTD 26,187.30 
M2 GREEN MECHANICAL LTD 395,849.86 
MASTERCARD - DIR OF FINANCE 369,521.61 
MCELHANNEY CONSULTING SERVICES LTD. 35,027.23 
MCGILL & ASSOCIATES 56,733.87 
MCLEAN & HIGGINS LTD 69,556.20 
MCM FACILITATION & TRAINING 25,827.06 
MINISTER OF FINANCE 44,401.21 
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Supplier Name
 Aggregate Amount Paid To 

Supplier 
MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT 54,359.09 
MINISTRY OF PROV REVENUE 2,881,344.56 
MKM PROJECTS LTD 1,343,425.65 
MNP LLP 62,475.00 
MOBIA TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION INC 41,673.42 
MUNICIPAL INSURANCE ASSOC OF BC 505,842.00 
MYRA SYSTEMS CORP 399,983.39 
ND GRAPHICS 54,284.72 
Nordica Aluminum Inc 104,590.45 
NORTHLAND CUSTOM LTD 31,237.50 
OPERATORS TRAINING SCHOOL 28,195.29 
ORGANIZED CRIME AGENCY OF BC 35,609.57 
OSPREY ELECTRIC LTD 38,119.24 
P & R TRUCK CENTRE 474,870.78 
PACIFIC AUDIO WORKS 38,549.74 
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS 453,665.83 
PENSION CORPORATION 2,715,782.26 
PORT ALBERNI FIRE FIGHTERS ASSOC 71,843.91 
PORT ALBERNI PORT AUTHORITY 184,003.57 
PORT ALBERNI RETAIL DEVELOPMENT LTD 48,645.00 
PRAIRIECOAST EQUIPMENT 28,663.29 
PWL PARTNERSHIP LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS INC 148,523.18 
QUADIENT 59,604.90 
R F BINNIE & ASSOCIATES LTD 130,667.06 
RAYNER BRACHT CONSTRUCTION 25,778.11 
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - COMMISSIONER RCMP 8,565,865.93 
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - REVENUE CANADA & 4,730,733.50 
REGIONAL DISTRICT OF ALBERNI CLAYOQUOT 3,485,437.03 
RICOH CANADA INC 46,506.82 
ROGERS COMMUNICATIONS INC 43,176.71 
ROLLINS MACHINERY LTD 214,733.34 
RON'S DRYWALL 58,008.36 
S P C A 147,539.68 
SAFETEK EMERGENCY VEHICLES LTD 2,100,657.44 
SAYWELL DEVELOPMENTS LTD 211,802.62 
SHAW BUSINESS 146,307.40 
SKYTEC CONTRACTING CANADA LTD 163,381.99 
SLR CONSULTING (CANADA) LTD 48,095.32 
SOFTCHOICE CORP 45,216.81 
SOUTHSIDE AUTO SUPPLY LTD 79,492.28 
STAPLES ADVANTAGE 40,518.33 
SUPERIOR CITY CONTRACTING SERVICES LTD 289,973.25 
TELUS 87,340.20 
TELUS MOBILITY CELLULAR INC 101,427.24 
TETRA TECH EBA INC 27,339.53 
THINQ  TECHNOLOGIES LTD 29,927.96 
TIM PLEY & ASSOCIATES LTD 109,794.23 
TOTEM TREE OPERATIONS 72,271.50 
TRITECH GROUP LTD 475,954.89 
TSESHAHT FIRST NATION 48,742.00 
URBAN SYSTEMS LTD 203,934.15 
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY 913,661.00 
VIKING REINFORCING LTD 33,183.68 
WARBRICK CONTRACTING INC 318,242.29 
WASTE CONNECTIONS OF CANADA INC 29,391.63 
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Supplier Name
 Aggregate Amount Paid To 

Supplier 
WAYMARK 153,400.04 
WHITE PACIFIC AUTOMATION 33,306.82 
WORKSAFE BC 447,789.94 
WSP CANADA INC 83,817.32 
XYLEM CANADA COMPANY 45,193.99 
YOUNG, ANDERSON 33,112.56 
ZINC STATEGIES 74,878.13 
Total aggregate amount paid to suppliers ( A ) $53,040,537.73

2. Consolidated total paid to suppliers who received aggregate payments of $25,000 or less

( B ) $2,808,484.39

3. Total of payments to suppliers for grants and contributions exceeding $25,000

ALBERNI VALLEY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 259,568.05 
Consolidated total of grants exceeding $25,000.00 259,568.05 
Consolidated total of contributions exceeding $25,000.00 -$  
Consolidated total of all grants and contributions exceeding $25,000            ( C ) $259,568.05

4. Reconciliation

Total of aggregate payments exceeding $25,000 paid to suppliers         ( A ) 53,040,537.73$  
Consolidated total of payments of $25,000 or less paid to suppliers       ( B ) 2,808,484.39 
Consolidated total of all grants and contributions exceeding $25,000     ( C ) 259,568.05 
Reconciling items
Total per Statement of Revenue and Expenditure 31,989,180.00 
Variance                                                                                  Note 2  $ 24,119,410.17 

NOTE 2

A formal reconciliation cannot be presented due to the functional reporting of expenditures.

The variance is due to the following reasons:
- collections for others;
- payments made to suppliers for payroll purposes eg. Receiver General, Pension Corporation etc.;
- GST and HST are included in the payments to suppliers but is not included in the financial statement total.
- acquisition of capital assets
- amortization expense
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Prepared Under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 4

Information on all long-term debts for this organization is included in Note 11 and Schedule 3 to 
the Financial Statements.

Prepared Under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 5

Information on all Guarantees and Indemnities for this organization is included in Note 18 to the 
Financial Statements.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI

SCHEDULE OF DEBTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE OR INDEMNITY

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection
9(2), approves all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial
Information , produced under the Financial Information Act.

Andrew McGifford, CPA, CGA Cindy Solda
Director of Finance Council Member on behalf of Council

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION APPROVAL

Audit Committee ChairJune 24, 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 9
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of June 24, 2024 

Date: May 27, 2024 
File No:  1765-01 

To: Mayor & Council 
From: M. Fox, CAO
Subject: 2023 Development Cost Charges

_____ 

Prepared by: 
R, MACAULEY 

Deputy Director of 
Finance 

Supervisor: 
A, MCGIFFORD 

Director of Finance 

CAO Concurrence: 

MIKE FOX, CHIEF
ADMINISTRATION OFFICER

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council receive the report dated May 27, 2024 and titled “2023 Development Cost Charges’’. 

PURPOSE 
Provide information about the annual collection, expenditures, reserve balances, and reductions related to the 
City’s Development Cost Charges [DCC] accounts. 

BACKGROUND 
DCC's are charges levied on new development to assist local governments in financing the costs of growth-
related infrastructure. The use of DCC's, in combination with other funding sources, is needed to fund the 
construction of new or expanded infrastructure that supports population growth in the City. DCC's provide 
funding for transportation improvements, parkland acquisition, development of certain park improvements, as 
well as utility infrastructure including water, sewer and drainage projects that are identified within the bylaw. 

DCC's collected in 2023 were based on the rates established by the City's “Development Cost Charges, 2009, 
Bylaw No. 4713”, "Development Cost Charge Amendment, Bylaw No. 4766” and "Development Cost Charges 
Reduction Bylaw No. 4947". Funds collected through the DCC bylaws must be deposited in a separate account 
and may only be used to pay for the capital costs of the works that are identified in the corresponding DCC 
program upon which the rates are based.  The purpose of the bylaw is to impose development cost charges to 
assist the City in paying the capital costs of providing, constructing, altering or expanding water, sewage, 
drainage, highway facilities and improving park land in order to serve, directly or indirectly, the development 
for which the charge was imposed.  
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Staff Report – 2023 Development Cost Charges 

May 27, 2024 

P a g e  2 | 3 

As per Section 569 of the Local Government Act, the City of Port Alberni is required to report annually on the 
DCC’s received and expended during the year. The attached schedule reflects DCC accounts as of December 31, 
2023 and includes the following information:  

a) The amount of Development Cost Charges received during the year;
b) The expenditures from the Development Cost Charges accounts during the year including interest

being paid;
c) The balance in the Development Cost Charges accounts at the start and the end of the applicable year;

and;
d) Any waivers and reduction under Section 563(2) of the Local Government Act.

As per Section 188 (2)(a) of the Community Charter, the money received from the imposition of a development 
cost charge must be placed to the credit of a reserve fund in accordance with section 566 [use of development 
cost charges] of the Local Government Act. All Funds collected have been accounted for under the 
“Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Establishment Bylaw No. 5102, 2024”. 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
 That Council receive the report dated May 27, 2024 and titled “2023 Development Cost Charges’’. 

ANALYSIS 
The current balance in the City of Port Alberni’s combined DCC account is $3,246,595.  Currently all funds 
remain unallocated to current or future projects as of December 31, 2023. 

Appendix A provides a detailed summary of the individual DCC balances at year end December 31, 2023. 

In 2023, the City granted a fee reduction to development costs associated with the SAGE Haven Society’s 
supportive housing project at 4440 Vimy Street for $52,546 under ““Development Cost Charges Reduction 
Bylaw No. 4947” in accordance with section 563(2) of the Local Government Act. 

IMPLICATIONS 
This report provides financial information regarding the Development Cost Charge accounts for 2023 and 
potential funding for eligible projects in future years.  

COMMUNICATIONS 
Not applicable. 

BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
• Development Cost Charges, 2009 Bylaw No. 4713
• Development Cost Charge Amendment, Bylaw No. 4766
• Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Establishment Bylaw No. 5102, 2024
• Development Cost Charges Reduction Bylaw No. 4947
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SUMMARY 
DCC’s are charges levied on new development to assist local governments in financing the costs of growth-
related infrastructure. This report provides information on Development charges collected and fee reductions 
approved in the 2023 financial year and fulfills the statutory requirement to report information regarding the 
collection of DCC levies and any expenditures completed. 

ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 
• Appendix A - Development Cost Charge Accounts as of December 31, 2023
• Development Cost Charges, 2009 Bylaw No. 4713 Bylaw 4713_DCC
• Development Cost Charge Amendment, Bylaw No. 4766 Bylaw 4766
• Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Establishment Bylaw No. 5102, 2024 Bylaw

5102_DCC_Reserve_Fund_
• Development Cost Charges Reduction Bylaw No. 4947 Bylaw 4947 DCC Reduction
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Appendix A
City of Port Alberni

Development Cost Charges
December 31, 2023

Water Sewer Storm Roads Parkland Total DCC
Opening Balance at January 1, 2023 1,186,752.43               669,532.20            311,787.83        761,038.98       248,689.66          3,177,801.10       

Receipts:
   2023 Gross DCC Contributions 12,839.42 9,351.03                 4,387.57             5,515.13            7,616.62              39,709.77             

Credit and Reductions:
  Supportive Housing Project SAGE Haven Society (2022) (19,794.83) (14,418.14)             (5,112.03)           (6,710.88)           (6,510.46)             (52,546.34)           

Expenditures:
- - - - - - 

Balance before interest earned in 2023 1,179,797.02               664,465.09            311,063.37        759,843.23       249,795.82          3,164,964.53       

Interest earned in 2023
   Interest earned 29,733.71 21,510.89               8,408.15             19,491.65          2,485.82              81,630.22             

Funding Available January 1, 2024 1,209,530.73               685,975.98            319,471.52        779,334.88       252,281.64          3,246,594.75       
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